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Xstrata 79.7

BHP Billiton 72.7

Bumi Resources 61.2

Anglo American 52.4

Rio Tinto 50.6

Adaro 36.7

SUEK1 36.0

Peabody 32.9

Banpu 31.0

Kideco 26.0

Drummond 24.8

Glencore 22.9

Siberian Coal Energy Company1 is Russia’s largest coal 
producer and one of the biggest coal mining companies 
in the world. The open-pit and underground mining 
companies of SUEK Group operate in seven regions 
across Siberia and the Far East. 

The Group comprises 29 mines (17 opencast and 
12 under ground mines), seven washing plants, 
Vanino Bulk Terminal, Murmansk Commercial Seaport 
and other industrial transportation, maintenance and 
engineering facilities. SUEK employs approximately 
31,000 people.

SUEK is the world’s fifth-largest coal company in 
terms of reserves, with 5.9 billion tonnes, and one 
of the world’s top ten producers by volume.

SUEK accounts for 27.5% of Russia’s total 
coal production, and is the country’s largest 
coal producer in terms of both open-pit and 
underground mining. SUEK has the largest 
investment programme in the Russian coal 
industry: in 2012 the Company invested 
USD 894 million into production. Productivity 
at SUEK coal mining enterprises is higher than 
the average productivity of other Russian coal 
companies.

As the largest supplier of thermal coal to the 
domestic market SUEK meets 41% of thermal 
coal demand from the electric power industry in 
Russia. In 2012 SUEK’s domestic sales amounted to 
52.9 million tonnes.

As leading exporter of Russian coal, the Company 
supplies it to both Europe and Asia. In 2012 the 
Company’s volume of international sales increased 
by 15% to 38.8 million tonnes, including an increase 
of exports of coal produced by the Company of 20%, 
to 36.0 million tonnes. SUEK’s share of the total 
volume of Russian coal exports in 2012 was 28%. 
The Company is the world’s seventh-largest thermal 
coal exporter. 

1.1. 
our Company

1 Siberian Coal Energy Company refers to SUEK PLC which was founded in 2011, the ultimate beneficiary of the Company is Andrey Melnichenko. 
The main asset of SUEK PLC is Open Joint Stock Company SUEK (OJSC SUEK) which operates in Russia. “SUEK”, the “Company”, “SUEK 
enterprises”, “Company enterprises” refer to SUEK PLC and companies included in SUEK PLC (OJSC SUEK and its subsidiaries).   1 Exports of only SUEK’s own coal, excluding sales of third parties’ coal.

Coal production in Russia in 2012

Coal export sales by the world’s  
leading producers in 2012 (million tonnes)

thermal coal production in Russia in 2012
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1.2. 
Where the Company 
operates
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1.3. 
Main assets

 SUEK is a vertically integrated company that 
controls its entire production and sales network  
from mining through to delivery to the end users.

 SUEK PLC   Annual Report 2012

the Group’s assets include:
• 17 opencast mines (eight hard coal open-

pits and nine brown coal open-pits);
• 12 underground mines;
• Seven washing plants;
• Vanino Bulk Terminal;
• Murmansk Commercial Seaport  

(SUEK owns 49.9% stake).

Vanino Bulk terminal

Murmansk Commercial Seaport

Rail transportation

Vanino Bulk Terminal is a modern and highly automated commercial seaport with an 
annual capacity of 12 million tonnes. The terminal was constructed in 2008 in Muchka 
Bay specifically for the transhipment of SUEK’s own coal, providing the shortest 
transhipment routes from mines to end users in China, South Korea, Japan, Taiwan  
and other countries in the Asia-Pacific region. In 2012 12 million tonnes of coal 
(38% of SUEK’s seaborne export supplies) passed through Vanino Bulk Terminal. 

As one of the Company’s priorities is to develop its own logistics facilities, SUEK 
plans to increase the capacity of Vanino Bulk Terminal to 20 million tonnes per annum. 

Murmansk Commercial Seaport is the biggest year-round seaport north of the 
Arctic Circle. 

The Group purchased a 24.9% stake in the port from third parties in February 
2012, and this was followed by an additional 25% acquisition in December 2012, 
taking the Group’s total stake to 49.9%. Murmansk Commercial Seaport gives 
SUEK open access to the Atlantic Ocean and provides links to ports in Western 
Europe, the US Eastern Seaboard, the Northern Sea Route and the Spitsbergen 
archipelago.

Murmansk Seaport has 19 berths with a total length of circa 3,200 metres. 
The maximum depth near the berths is 14.2 metres, while the depth in open water is 
up to 60 metres. The port serves ships with deadweight of up to 140,000 tonnes.

Rail transportation is one of the most important elements of the Company’s 
production and sales network, as coal is mainly transported by rail. SUEK 
operates one of the largest rail fleets in Russia, which includes more than 
17,425 open wagons (2,125 owned and 15,300 on long-term lease).

The Company has a fleet of 202 locomotives, which is sufficient to transport  
both produced coal and overburden.
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1.4. 
2012: Key events 

 January
• OJSC SUEK was a winner in two 

categories in the national Best 
Russian Companies awards  
organised by the Russian 
Union of Industrialists and 
Entrepreneurs. The categories 
were “Developing Human 
Resources Potential and 
Increasing Productivity” and 
“Developing Sustainability 
Reporting in the Coal Industry”.

• Loading and transportation 
department of SUEK-Kuzbass 
achieved a record volume 
of shipments of 1.03 million 
tonnes. Since its formation 
in 2000, the Company has 
transported exactly 70 million 
tonnes. 

 February
• CEO of OJSC SUEK Vladimir 

Rashevsky signed socio-
economic cooperation 
agreements with Kemerovo 
Region, Krasnoyarsk Territory 
and Republic of Khakassia. 

 March
• For the first time in its history, 

SUEK exported more than 
3 million tonnes of its own coal 
per month.

 April
• SUEK’s Tugnuisky open-pit 

set a new world record for 
drilling. During the month the 
team of the open-pit drilled 
41,806 running metres using 
a Pit Viper 271 blasthole drill 
rig, thus beating the five-year-
old previous record of 37,000 
running metres set in Kuzbass. 

 May
• SUEK-Kuzbass became the 

first company in the Russian 
coal industry which received 
Kyoto funds: Phase 1 of its 
project “Degassed methane 
utilization at mines operated by 
SUEK Kuzbass”, implemented 
under Article 6 of the Kyoto 
Protocol to the United Nations 
Framework Convention on 
Climate Change, was adjudged 
to have been completed. 

 According to an expert appraisal 
the reduction in greenhouse gas 
emissions between 1 January 
2009 and 30 September 2011 
amounted to 138,000 tonnes of 
CO2 equivalent. This decrease 
was valued at EUR 431,000.

• Krasnoyarskaya mine located 
in Kuzbass set a new Russian 
coal industry record for rate 
of excavation. Using a KP 21 
Roadheader, the mine team 
excavated two kilometres of 
mine works in five months.

 June
• As part of the European Union’s 

COMET project, a new methane 
utilisation unit was launched at 
Komsomolets mine (Kuzbass). 
Extraction wells drilled in 
unworked coal enable high- and 
low-concentration methane 
to be brought to the surface. 
Industrial tests demonstrated 
that the mixture produced could 
be burned in an experimental 
mini-heat power station, and 
consequently that such methane 
utilisation technology could 
receive a wide application in EU 
countries. 

 July
• Taldinskaya-Zapadnaya 1 mine 

(Kuzbass) set a Russian record 
for the amount of coal mined at 
a face in a single month. In July, 
the team mined 827 thousand 
tonnes of coal, beating the 
previous record (which had 
been set by Kotinskaya mine) by 
almost 120 thousand tonnes.

• SUEK’s Tugnuisky open-pit set 
a new world record with the 
Bucyrus 495HD No. 1 excavator 
with a 41.3 m3 bucket capacity. 
The 1,782,000 m3 of production 
achieved during the month set 
a world record for machines of 
this class.

• SUEK mined the first coal at 
Apsatskoye field in Trans-Baikal 
Territory. Total output for the 
month was 7,600 tonnes.

 August
• Tugnuisky washing plant set 

a new coal processing record 
among SUEK washing plants: 
780,000 tonnes in a single 
month.  
The plant also passed the 
9 million tonne mark for the year. 

 September
• On 29 September Bucyrus No. 1 

excavator at Tugnuisky open-pit 
removed in a single shift a record 
42,593 m3 of overburden rock. 
During the month, the excavator’s 
crew removed an unprecedented 
total of 2,005,000 m3 of 
overburden rock, in the process 
breaking their own world record 
set in July 2012. 

 october
• At Kirova mine industrial testing 

took place of a new processing 
unit with a 5 million tonnes per 
annum capacity.

• Tugnuisky open-pit set a new 
world record for drilling. During 
the month the team drilled 
42,520 running metres using 
the Pit Viper 271 blasthole drill 
rig No. 4603.

• Mining Area 1 at Taldinskaya-
Zapadnaya 1 mine became 
the first in Russia to produce 
4 million tonnes from a single 
face since the start of the year, 
having already been the first 
to pass the 1, 2 and 3 million 
tonne milestones in 2012. 

• Mining Area 1 at 
Krasnoyarskaya  
mine produced 520,000 tonnes 
of coal, the most ever from 
a single face in a single month 
at the mine.

• Vostochnoye mine facility 
achieved an underground pro-
duction rate of 10,030 tonnes  
per day, a coal industry record 
for Primorye Territory.

• A consortium consisting of OJSC 
SUEK and Alfa Capital Holdings 
Ltd. made the highest bid for 
a 25.5% stake (34% of voting 
shares) in OJSC Murmansk 
Commercial Seaport. Earlier in 
2012, SUEK had purchased an 
18.68% stake (24.9% of voting 
shares) in the port.  

  november
• During the month exports 

of SUEK’s own coal reached 
a record level of 3.6 million 
tonnes.

• For the first time in its history 
Urgalugol extracted more than 
3 million tonnes of coal from one 
mine face since the start of the 
year.

• SUEK secured a USD 600 million  
syndicated loan facility. 
The five-year facility carries 
a margin of 370 basis points and  
is secured by the Company’s 
export revenues. The loan 
was arranged through leading 
international banks including 
Deutsche Bank AG, NATIXIS,  
 
 

UniCredit, ING BANK N.V., BNP 
Paribas and Caterpillar Financial 
Services Corporation. 

• SUEK-Kuzbass won the auction 
for subsoil use rights at the 
Magistralny section of the 
Yegozovo-Krasnoyarsk deposit 
in Kemerovo Region. The 
section has 138 million tonnes 
coal reserves.

• SUEK won a prize in the 
“Modernization and Improving 
the Efficiency of Russian 
Industry” category at the 
national 2012 Company of the 
Year awards. The awards are 
sponsored by RBC Group under 
the auspices of the Russian 
Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry. 

 December
• Vanino Bulk Terminal reached 

its planned annual handling 
capacity of 12 million tonnes 
of coal. During the month a 
record 1.5 million tonnes of coal 
was loaded onto ships at the 
terminal.

• SUEK-Khakassia won a tender 
to explore and mine coal at the  
Kurgan section of Chernogorsky 
open-pit; the section has 
approximately 62.7 million 
tonnes of coal reserves.
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Production (m/t)

89.12010

92.22011

97.52012

EBItDA (USD mln)

1,0862010

1,7712011

1,5762012

Sales (m/t)

90.42010

88.92011

91.72012

EBItDA margin (%)

252010

312011

282012

Revenue (USD mln)

4,3202010

5,6832011

5,6352012

operating cashflows (USD mln)

6992010

7942011

1,0392012

net profit (USD mln)

3092010

8222011

9672012

Capital expenditures (USD mln)

6332010

9112011

8942012

1.5. 
Key performance indicators

Key financial indicators
USD mln 2010 2011 2012

Revenue 4,320 5,683 5,635

Cost of Sales (3,507) (4,182) (4,368)

Gross Profit 813 1,501 1,267
Gross Profit Margin 19% 26% 22%

General and Administrative Expenses (140) (184) (138)

EBItDA 1,086 1,771 1,576
EBItDA Margin 25% 31% 28%

net Income 309 822 967
net Income Margin 7% 14% 17%

CAPEX 633 911 894
Debt (bank loans) 2,828 2,957 3,298
Equity 2,285 511 1,541
Cash and cash equivalents 271 118 158

Key operating data
mt 2010 2011 2012
Sales 90.4 88.9 91.7
    Domestic sales 61.3 55.2 52.9
    Export sales 29.1 33.7 38.8

Production 89.1 92.2 97.5
    Hard coal 49.6 53.9 60.2
    Brown coal 39.5 38.3 37.3

transhipment in Vanino Bulk terminal 8.0 10.1 12.0

Indices
USD/t 2010 2011 2012

CIF ARA 92.0 121.5 92.6  
FoB newcastle 98.5 120.8 94.6  
FoB Richards Bay 91.6 116.3 93.1  

Note: Argus/McCloskey’s Coal Price Index Report.     

Macroeconomic indicators
Consumer Price Index (CPI) 6.6%
Producer Price Index (PPI) 5.1%
Industrial production index 2.6%
RUB/USD (average for 2012) 31.09
RUB/USD (as of the end of 2012) 30.37

Key financial indicators

     Annual Report 2012
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Results 
SUEK continued to grow rapidly in 
2012, resulting in an outstanding 
operational performance. The 
Company achieved record levels of 
production, sales volumes and  
exports, thereby retaining our leader-
ship position within the Russian  
coal industry. SUEK has held this 
position for a number of years. 

In 2012, SUEK mined 97.5 million 
tonnes of coal, approximately 
27.5% of the total coal production 
in Russia. International sales 
volumes reached 38.8 million 
tonnes, approximately 5% of the 
total thermal coal trade worldwide. 

our market 
This exceptional performance 
in 2012 was achieved against 
a background of a challenging global 
coal market and falling prices. 
Although competition between coal 
producers has recently become 
stronger, following increased 
production of inexpensive shale 
gas in the USA, coal remains an 
important and attractive source 
of energy and the basis of the 
power generation industry in 
many regions of the world. Global 
coal consumption continues to 
grow faster than any other source 
of energy, and in 2012 alone it 
increased by around 200 million 
tonnes. One of the reasons for this 
is the successful implementation 
of effective and environmentally 
sustainable coal mining and coal 
consumption technologies. 

Strategy
In this environment our objectives 
are to compete successfully, to 
strengthen our presence in the 
most promising, dynamic and 
fast-growing markets and to be 
a reliable partner and supplier. 
Our key goals are to ensure high 
levels of operational efficiency and 
industrial safety at our underground 

and opencast mines, improve 
our transportation infrastructure, 
optimise our logistics network and 
improve product quality through 
coal washing. These goals drive our 
strategic and investment priorities. 

This year a number of major new 
projects were launched to help us 
further accelerate growth. These 
new projects include increased 
production and the construction 
of a washing plant in Urgal 
(Khabarovsk), modernisation and 
increased capacity of mining and 
washing facilities in Kuzbass and 
at Tugnuisky open-pit mine in 
Buryatia, starting high-quality coking 
coal production at Apsatskoye coal 
field in Zabaikaliye, constructing 
the second phase of Vanino Bulk 
Terminal and the acquisition of a 
stake in Murmansk Commercial 
Seaport, the principal port for 
deliveries of SUEK’s coal to the 
Atlantic market. 

Governance
This year was the start of a new 
chapter in the development of 
the Board and our governance 
standards. We have made good 
progress against our objectives of 
driving leadership, collaboration, 
effective communication 
and a culture of continuous 
improvement in our management 
of governance. There were some 
changes in the composition of the 
Board of Directors in 2012. Richard 
Sheath, Klaus-Dieter Beck and 
Roger Munnings joined as new 
members of the Board. They bring a 
wealth of professional experience of 
working in world-class international 
companies. Mikhail Kislyakov, 
who was a member of the Board 
of Directors for eight years, and 
Gert Maichel, who was a member 
from 2008, left the Board in 2012. 
Mikhail and Gert played a key role 
in developing our strategy and 
corporate governance framework. 

Safety 
In 2012, a new Production 
Safety and Operating Efficiency 
Committee was established, with 
close association to the Board. 
Both the Board and the PSOE 
Committee have become more 
closely involved in strategic 
planning and investment processes 
and in monitoring performance 
targets. We continued to optimise 
our management and corporate 
structure in order to become 
more transparent and enhance the 
motivation of our management and 
employees. 

Corporate responsibility 
I would like, in particular, to 
highlight the important social role 
SUEK plays in the regions where 
our businesses operate. Our charity 
fund “SUEK for the Regions” has 
become a reliable and proactive 
partner for regional authorities and 
local communities in the realisation 
of dozens of social investment 
programmes and projects that aim 
to improve, modernise and develop 
the social environment in the cities 
and communities in which we 
operate. 

our people 
I would like especially thank all 
our employees who have been 
involved in the life and work of our 
Company, whose commitment 
and cooperation contributed 
considerably toward our success.
 
Looking ahead
Overall, the Company strengthened 
its position as industry leader 
in 2012, took important steps to 
further develop its potential and 
increased its influence in both 
the international and Russian coal 
markets. 

Andrey Melnichenko,  
Chairman of oJSC SUEK 

Chairman’s  
Statement

“We achieved record levels 
of production, sales volumes 
and exports, thereby retaining 
our leadership position within 
the Russian coal industry.”

2
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SUEK delivered exciting operational 
results in 2012 allowing us to grow 
and continue to progress towards 
achieving our strategic goals. 

We continued to increase coal pro-
duction, which reached 97.5 million 
tonnes, exceeding the level achieved 
in 2011 by 5.3 million tonnes (6%). 
We secured further increases in net 
profit (USD 967 million). 

operations
The main growth in key performance 
indicators in 2012 was achieved as 
a result of increased international 
sales volumes. These rose by 15% 
compared to 2011 and amounted 
to 38.8 million tonnes. Exports of 
SUEK’s own coal grew by 20% 
compared to the previous year, up to  
36.0 million tonnes. Such a signifi-
cant growth in exports, the highest 
in our Company’s history, was 
achieved despite a downturn in the 
global coal market. It was the result 
of the combined coordinated efforts 
of SUEK companies at all stages of 
the production and logistics chain. 
Many enterprises demonstrated 
exceptional performance and 
achieved outstanding results 
in 2012. For example, in July 
the Kuzbass mine Taldinskaya-
Zapadnaya-1 set a Russian record 
of 827 thousand tonnes for monthly 
production from a single mining 
face. Other Kuzbass mines, such as 
Krasnoyarskaya mine, Mine No. 7 
and the Komsomolets mine, also 
demonstrated exceptional results. 
Record-breaking levels of production 
were achieved at Tugnuisky open-pit 
mine (which set two new equipment 
performance world records), 
at Urgalugol in Khabarovsk, and at 
the Vostochnoye mine in Primorye 
Territory. The open-pit mines in 
Krasnoyarsk and Kuzbass performed 
well ahead of work targets in 2012. 

Investment 
Our excellent results reflect our 
large-scale investment programme. 
Capital investments are aimed 

at increasing substantially the 
productivity and operating efficiency 
of all elements of the production 
chain. This ensures the maximum 
level of health and safety and 
increased production (both in terms 
of extraction and washing) of high-
quality export coal mined in Kuzbass, 
Khakassia, Tugnuisky open-pit 
mine and Urgalugol. In particular, 
I would like to drawn attention to the 
commencement of production at 
Apsatskoye coal field in Zabaikaliye. 
Despite challenging conditions, 
which held up production for several 
decades, in 2012 SUEK commenced 
production at the field and delivered 
the first 126 thousand tonnes of coal. 
Important results were also achieved 
in the development of our coal 
washing facilities. New processing 
modules for coal washing plants were 
put into operation at the Kirova mine 
and the Chernogorsky open-pit. The 
productivity of Tugnuisky washing 
plant was increased significantly and 
other washing facilities in Kuzbass 
and the Far East were modernised. 
As a result, the volume of coal washed  
in 2012 increased by more than 
4.5 million tonnes compared to 2011. 
Further growth in coal processing will 
result from the completion of projects 
in Kuzbass and the operation of the 
coal washing plant at Urgalugol that 
is currently under construction.

transportation
We continue to implement our 
strategy to develop transportation 
assets. In 2012, the maximum 
designated capacity of Vanino 
Bulk Terminal (12 million tonnes) 
was transhipped and, at the same 
time, a project was carried out 
to increase further the terminal’s 
capacity to 20 million tonnes. 
SUEK became a shareholder of 
Murmansk Commercial Seaport 
and from 2013 the Company 
intends to significantly increase its 
coal shipments through this port. 
We are also continuing to develop 
our own rail infrastructure and 

are gradually raising the capacity 
of our loading and transportation 
departments as well as the rail 
sections of our own enterprises. 
The increasing significance of 
transportation activity and the 
development of our transportation 
assets are the underlying conditions 
for establishing an independent 
Logistics Block. The key objectives 
of the new division are to eliminate 
our logistical bottlenecks and to 
provide access to the most efficient 
logistics chains. 

our people
Fundamental to ensuring success in 
our operations and in strengthening 
our position is our professional 
staff. Representatives of SUEK 
enterprises deservedly took home 
prizes in all coal-industry categories 
in the Russian professional skills 
competition “Best in the Profession” 
held in July-August 2012. More 
than 200 employees received state 
and ministry honours in 2012 and 
more than a hundred of SUEK’s best 
miners took part in a meeting with 
the President of Russia in advance 
of Miners’ Day in August 2012.  
We make every effort to preserve 
and grow our human capital. This is 
our primary social policy aim. We are 
actively working to improve the living 
standards of our employees and 
their families by comprehensively 
developing the regions in which we 
operate. This year, a large number of 
related social projects were initiated. 
The amount of funding invested in 
these projects, and in agreements 
with the governments of the regions, 
amounted USD 20 million.  
the future
This past year has been both 
successful and rewarding. We have 
consolidated our position as the 
leader of the Russian coal industry 
as well as being one of the world’s 
leading coal companies. 

Vladimir Rashevsky,  
CEo of oJSC SUEK

“We delivered exciting operational 
results in 2012 allowing us to grow  
and continue to progress towards 
achieving our strategic goals.”

CEo’s  
Statement

3
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SUEK’s  
Strategy

4



22 23

 SUEK PLC   Annual Report 2012  

SUEK aims to strengthen its positions in all key 
segments of the domestic market, including 
shipments to power generation stations, the utilities 
sector and industrial enterprises. The Company 
intends to maintain its leading positions in terms of 
volumes of shipments, first and foremost to Siberia 
and the Far East. Thereby an increasing share of coal 
will be delivered under long-term contracts, which 
will make it possible to guarantee sales and the 
reliability of shipments to consumers and end users.

One of SUEK’s priorities is to improve the quality 
of its coal. In this connection, the Company is 
constructing new and upgrading existing coal 
washing  plants in Kemerovo, Khakassia, Buryatia 
and Khabarovsk, and thus enabling the amount 
of coal processed to be increased by 7-10 million 
tonnes in the next few years.

The Company also plans to gradually increase the 
share of high-quality grades of coal in its supply 
portfolio. Improved quality and a change in the range 
of coals shipped will allow SUEK to diversify its sales 
markets, and to improve its sales margin. Exploration 
and pre-development work at Apsatskoye coking 
coal field is expected to be completed in 2013, when 
the most economically efficient field development 
option will be chosen.
 
The Company will also develop its own logistical 
capacities in order to support growing export volumes. 
SUEK is investing in developing junction railway 
stations and access routes, and is steadily increasing 
capacity at its key port Vanino Bulk Terminal, whose 
capacity is planned to be increased to more than 

20 million tonnes per annum. For shipments to the 
west, the Company intends to deliver a large portion 
of its coal through the Murmansk Commercial Seaport, 
where an increase in capacity is also planned.

An important strategic goal for SUEK is to improve 
production operating efficiency. The Company is 
investing in increasing capacity and upgrading major 
equipment, and implementing advanced modern 
technologies for developing coal fields. SUEK has 
one of the highest labour productivity among Russian 
coal companies. SUEK invests significant amounts 
to improve health and safety levels. The Company is 
also actively implementing new technologies related 
to mine degassing and ventilation, communications 
and alarm systems, and is striving to reduce the risk 
of mine explosions. The Company maintains high 
standards of social responsibility. In the coal-mining 
regions where it operates SUEK holds trainings 
and professional skill development programmes 
for personnel, participates in social projects, and is 
introducing modern technologies to reduce harmful 
emissions and thus ensure that its mining operations 
are more environmentally sustainable. 

SUEK is currently considering options for processing 
coal, primarily the brown coal of the Kansko-Achinsk 
basin. The products received from such processing 
may be sold both to SUEK’s traditional domestic 
energy markets and on new metallurgy, petroleum 
product and petrochemical markets. By focusing its 
efforts on managing operating efficiency, expanding 
its logistics capacities, efficient resource allocation, 
and entering new markets, the Company will be able 
to successfully realise its strategic goals.

SUEK’s strategic priorities in the next five years are 
to increase its production of high quality coal which 
is suitable for supplies both to domestic and export 
markets, depending on the market situation and the 
pace of rail infrastructure development by directions, 
to maintain its leading positions on the domestic 
market, and to increase the share of valuable coal 
grades in its sales portfolio.

It is intended that these plans will be carried out 
mainly by increasing the capacity of existing mines 
and open-pits, and with the concurrent development 
of transportation infrastructure. Total investments in 
coal production and preparation and in transportation 
infrastructure are expected to average USD 650 million 
per annum in 2013-2017.

SUEK plans to gradually increase shipments to its 
export markets and grow the capacity of its rail and 
port infrastructure. As a first priority, shipments will be 
increased to the markets of China, Japan, South Korea, 
Taiwan, and other countries of the Asia-Pacific  
region. SUEK continues to make significant investments 
in its assets in Eastern Siberia and the Russian Far  
East in order to increase shipments to these markets.

SUEK strives to retain its position as one of the leading 
suppliers of thermal coal to the Atlantic market. However, 
it is expected that the volume of shipments to this 
market will be stable, in view of slower rates of energy 
consumption growth in Europe. The Atlantic market will 
remain a key export market for Kuzbass mines, due to their 
geographic position and the qualitative characteristics of 
their coal. The Company also plans to increase shipments 
of sized coal to Eastern European markets.

 SUEK’s strategic priorities in the next five years are 
to increase its  production of high quality coal which 
is suitable for supplies both to domestic and export 
markets, depending on the market situation and the 
pace of rail infrastructure development by directions, 
to maintain its leading positions on the domestic 
market, and to increase the share of valuable coal 
grades in its sales portfolio.

our Strategy
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5Siberian Coal Energy Company 
is Russia’s largest coal producer 
and one of the biggest coal mining
companies in the world.
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|   Coal Market overview

5.1. 
International coal market
the following were key market drivers in Asia-Pacific and Atlantic regions in 2012:
Asia-Pacific region Atlantic region

Increase in demand
• Intensive growth of imports by India (11 million tonnes  

in 2012) due to commissioning new power stations.
• Imports by China increased by 10 million tonnes, 

although this was notably slower growth than 
in previous years.

• Increase in coal consumption by Japan due to 
the restoration of power stations after the 2011 
earthquake and tsunami.

Increase in demand
• Higher gas prices in Europe led to greater imports 

of coal in the majority of countries.
• The highest growth of imports was observed in 

the United Kingdom, up to 11 million tonnes, 
and in Spain, up to 7 million tonnes.

Decrease in demand
• Slight reduction in coal imports by Korea and Taiwan.
• Due to a fall in coal prices in China there was a default 

on contracts by Chinese importers in the middle 
of the year.

Decrease in demand
• High level of hydroelectric generation in Norway led to a 

decrease in coal consumption in Scandinavian countries.
• High growth in energy generation from renewable 

sources in Germany, in particular solar energy (8 GW 
increase in capacity in 2013).

• The winter of 2011-2012 was relatively warm.
• Downturn in the EU economy was observed in 2012.
• Coal imports to Poland fell in 2012 due to increased 

domestic production.

Decrease in supply
• Exports from China decreased in 2012.
• No growth in exports from Indonesia in 2012 

(compared to 15% growth rates in previous years) 
due to low prices and insufficient demand from China.

Decrease in supply
• Decrease in supply was caused by a strike  

of the rail and coal unions in Colombia in summer 
2012.

Increase in supply
• Exports from Australia increased (18 million tonnes) 

due to an increase in port capacities of the country.
• Record level of exports from South Africa in 2012 

(69 million tonnes).

Increase in supply
• Exports from the USA increased by 15 million tonnes 

due to low domestic coal consumption.
• Exports from Colombia increased by 5 million tonnes.
• Exports from Russia increased by 5.3 million tonnes.

Summary
There was a surplus of supplies in 2012, despite the 
growth in coal demand. The increase in demand was 
significantly lower than in the past two years  
(20 million tonnes, versus 65-85 million tonnes). 
As a result, prices fell significantly in 2012.

Summary
In 2012 there was a high level of coal consumption 
in Europe due to rather high prices on natural gas.  
Import volumes returned to the level of 2008. 
Nevertheless, even greater levels of supply, mainly 
from the USA, collapsed the market. Approaching 
May, prices had fallen to the level of marginal 
producers, and remained rather stable at this level.

5.2.
Domestic coal market
the domestic market of thermal coal was driven 
in 2012 by the following factors: 
• Russian export of thermal coal increased by 

12.1 million tonnes, or 12%, due to a favourable 
situation on foreign markets;

• the main reduction was in supplies of coal for the 
utilities sector, as a result of the anomalously warm 
winter of 2012. 
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In 2012 a substantial portion of coal was mined in 
Kuzbass, Krasnoyarsk and Buryatia regions (32%, 
30% and 13% of the total production volume,  
respectively). 
 
Coal production increased in 2012, mainly due to an 
increase of supplies to export markets. Substantial 
production growth was witnessed in the following 
regions:
• in Kuzbass, by 2.4 million tonnes (8%);
• in Urgal, by 1.8 million tonnes (58%);
• in Buryatia, by 1.4 million tonnes (8%). 

Production in 2010–2012, 
million tonnes

Structure of production in 2012 by region,  
million tonnes

6.1.
Production

Brown coal

Hard coal1

Structure of production in 2012,  
million tonnes

49.6

39.5
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89.1

53.9

38.3

2011

92.2

60.2

37.3

2012

97.5

12.5
13%

5.1
5%
4.7
5%
4.4
5%

31.1
32%

29.5
30%

Krasnoyarsk Kuzbass

Khakassia

Buryatia

Primorye Urgal

Zabaikaliye

10.2
10%

SUEK enterprises produced 97.5 million tonnes 
of coal in 2012, which represented an increase 
of 5.3 million tonnes (6%) compared to 2011. 
A substantial part of SUEK’s production in 2012 
(approximately 62%) was accounted for by the 
production of hard coal; production of brown coal 
accounted for 38%. 
 
Hard coal is produced by using both open-pit 
and underground mining methods; brown coal is 
produced exclusively in open-pit mines.

During 2012, the production of hard coal increased 
by 6.3 million tonnes (12%), while the production 
of brown coal decreased by 1.0 million tonnes 
(3%), which is in line with the Company’s strategy 
to increase the production of hard coal of a higher 
quality that meets the needs of export markets.

28.8

31.4

Brown coal2 Hard coal

Open-pit mining

Underground mining

60.237.3

1 Hard coal includes the production of coking coal; total production of coking coal in 2012 amounted 0.1 million tonnes.
2 Brown coal is only produced using the open-pit mining method.
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6.2.
Revenue
Revenue in 2010–2012, USD million Sales volume in 2010–2012, million tonnes 

Structure of sales by type of coal in 2012, million tonnes

In 2012 and 2011, SUEK’s consolidated revenue 
amounted to USD 5,635 million and USD 5,683 
million, respectively. The 1% decrease in sales was 
mainly attributable to a 5% sales reduction on the 
domestic market, which was partly offset by a 2% 
increase in export sales. The key trends of 2012 were 
as follows:
• a 5% decrease of domestic revenue was caused 

by a 4% decrease in coal sales volume as a result 
of a fall in demand from the largest Russian power 
stations and a 1% decline in average price of sales 
due to a 6% weakening of the exchange rate;

• a 2% increase in export revenues was chiefly 
attributable to a 15% increase in export volumes, 
partly offset by 12% decline in export prices. 
The main trend in 2012 was a decrease of market 
prices in the Atlantic and Asia-Pacific regions 
compared to 2011 prices, which had a substantial 
effect on export revenues; however, record export 
volumes enabled the Company to eclipse the 
previous year’s numbers.

Coal sales in 2012 totalled 91.7 million tonnes. SUEK’s export sales in 2012 amounted to 38.8 million  
tonnes, which was 5.1 million tonnes (15%) higher than in 2011. This increase came as a result of 
increased sales in the Asia-Pacific region. Sales on the domestic market amounted to 52.9 million 
tonnes, 2.3 million tonnes (4%) lower than in 2011, due to reduced demand for thermal coal in Russia 
and the growth in export sales. 

Sales of hard coal amounted to 54.8 million tonnes (60% of total sales volume), while sales of 
brown coal stood at 36.9 million tonnes (40% of total sales volume).

Domestic Coal sales

4,320

5,683

3,850

2,625

1,565 1,689

144

5,635

3,920

1,603

112

Export coal sales OtherTotal

2010 2011 2012

130

90.4

61.3

88.9

55.2
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52.9

29.1 33.7 38.8

Domestic sales Export sales

2010 2011 2012
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6.2.1. Export sales Export sales 2011-2012,  
million tonnes

Sales to the Asia-Pacific region by country 
in 2012, million tonnes

Sales to the Atlantic region by country 
in 2012, million tonnes

The most important markets for SUEK in the Asia-
Pacific region were China, South Korea and Japan, 
which together accounted for 19.7 million tonnes 
of exports, or 88% of SUEK’s sales in the region.

The most significant markets for SUEK in the Atlantic 
region in 2012 were: the United Kingdom, Poland, 
Israel, Germany, Spain, France, and the Netherlands, 
which together accounted for 13.1 million tonnes of 
exports, or 79% of SUEK’s sales in the region.

SUEK’s sales in the Asia-Pacific region in 2012 made 
up 57% of the Company’s total export sales. Growth 
in the global thermal coal market in recent years has 
primarily been as a result of demand in the Asia-
Pacific region. Due to relatively high demand, prices 
there have been more attractive than in the Atlantic 
region. Growth in coal sales in Asia-Pacific countries 
was also the consequence of developing port 
facilities in the Far East and investment in production 
assets orientated towards the Asia-Pacific region.

The total volume of coal exported in 2012 
amounted to 38.8 million tonnes, which was 
15% higher than in the previous year.
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6.2.2. Domestic sales

Domestic sales by group of customers  
in 2011-2012, million tonnes

In 2012 power generating companies accounted for a major share of SUEK’s coal sales on the domestic market. 
The delivery of coal to power stations by SUEK amounted to 40.5 million tonnes  (77% of all domestic market sales).

Domestic sales by type of coal  
in 2011-2012, million tonnes

The decrease in sales on the domestic market was due to:
• the implementation of a gasification project in 

the Russian Far East, which involved generating 
companies transitioning from coal to natural 
gas; for this reason there was a decrease in coal 
shipments to the Far East Generating Company by 
1.6 million tonnes;

• the transfer of a portion of coal intended for the 
domestic market to exports, following a decline in 
demand in Russia.

55.2 52.9

37.7

17.5

36.9

16.0

Hard coalBrown coal

40.9

9.4
4.9

40.5

8.7
3.7

55.2 52.9

Power generating 
companies

Communal  
utilities

Other

2011 20112012 2012

Export prices

Coal prices on the international market, 2010–2012, USD/t

Sales prices are determined by the overall market conditions, specific features of a particular market, terms of
transport and delivery, and other factors. The majority of foreign coal shipments are made by sea on CIF 
and FOB terms.Sales prices are determined by the overall market conditions, specific features of a particular 
market, terms of transport and delivery, and other factors. The majority of foreign coal shipments are made by 
sea on CIF and FOB terms.

The average price of SUEK’s export sales was USD 101/t1 in 2012, which was 13% lower than in 2011. 
The average export sales price of SUEK in 2011-2012 was in line with the market price trends of Asia-Pacific  
and Atlantic regions, such as CIF ARA, FOB Newcastle, and FOB Richards Bay, which demonstrated a noticeable 
decrease in prices on both markets during 2011-2012.

1 The average price of foreign sales is calculated by dividing consolidated revenues from export coal sales by the corresponding volume of sales 
for the reporting period.
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6.3. 
Cost of sales

Cost of sales dynamics in 2011–2012,  
USD million 

Cost of sales structure in 2012, USD million  

SUEK’s cost of sales in 2012 amounted 
to USD 4.368 million, which was USD 186 million 
(4%) higher than in 2011.

USD mln 2012 2011 ∆ ∆%

transportation 2,094 1,897 197 10%

Cost of sales of own coal 1,652 1,543 109 7%

Amortisation and depreciation 384 351 33 9%

Coal purchased from third parties 238 391 (153) (39%)

total 4,368 4,182 186 4%

Coal prices on the domestic market, 2011–2012, USD/t

The average domestic sales price in 2012 was USD 30.3/t1, which was USD 0.3/t (1%) lower 
than in 2011 due to 6% weakening of the exchange rate, which was partly offset by a 5% increase in 
coal prices in Russia.

Domestic prices

 1 The average price of domestic sales is calculated by dividing consolidated revenues from domestic coal sales by the 
corresponding volume of sales for the reporting period.
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Structure of export sales by delivery terms 
in 2012 (Asia-Pacific region), million tonnes

Structure of export sales by delivery terms 
in 2012 (Atlantic region), million tonnes

transportation of coal to foreign customers
The bulk of export coal shipments are made by sea: hard coal is transported by rail to various ports 
in Russia, and sometimes to ports in Ukraine and Latvia, where it is loaded onto seagoing ships  
and sent to ports designated by clients. As a rule, the means of transportation is determined by the 
region of destination: deliveries to countries in the Asia-Pacific region are primarily by sea; circa 
79% of the coal sold in the Atlantic region is transported by sea and 10% by land (rail), while the 
remaining 11% is delivered on FCA terms. A specific feature of the Asia-Pacific market in terms  
of delivery is that a significant number of regional customers (primarily in Japan and South Korea) 
either own or charter vessels, and therefore purchase coal on FOB terms, while deliveries of coal 
by sea to customers in the Atlantic region are primarily made on CIF terms. Deliveries to certain 
countries in Europe and China may also be arranged by direct rail.

Structure of domestic shipments to customers by type 
of transport in 2012, million tonnes

6.3.1. transportation expenses
Transportation costs are costs to deliver coal from the shipment 
station to the destination submitted by the buyer. Means and terms of 
delivery are important factors in determining the basis of the coal price 
and delivery cost.

Domestic shipments
The majority of domestic coal shipments are made by railways belonging 
to Russian Railways (RZD). In Krasnoyarsk Territory, some coal is 
delivered to clients by conveyor belt (from the pits to the power station 
warehouse), and also by using in-house rail lines not connected to RZD 
stations. In each region, a small portion of shipments is made by road 
transport.
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Rail road transportation expenses
Rail road transportation expenses in 2012 amounted to USD 1,599 million, which was 
USD 150 million (10%) higher than in 2011: 

Rail tariffs and the services of Russian Railways
The increase in rail tariff expenses is chiefly related to an increase in coal shipments 
from enterprises. First, the increase in shipments was 3.4 million tonnes (4%), but at the 
same time export shipments increased by 6.1 million tonnes (20%). The substantial growth 
in export shipments of coal increases the transit distance, and consequently rail tariff 
expenses. Second, the rail tariff went up by 6% from 1 January 2012. Third, the rail cars 
of private operators were transferred to the control and management of Russian Railways, 
and the company charges tariffs on these cars as part of its overall fleet of rolling stock.

USD mln 2012 2011 ∆ ∆%

Railway tariff and services of Russian Railways 969 799 170 21%

Rail cars transportation fee 411 454 (43) (9%)

Rail cars rent fee 198 173 25 14%

other 21 23 2 (9%)

total 1,599 1,449 150 10%

Structure of transport expenses, 
in 2012, USD million  

Dynamics of transport expenses, 
2011-2012, USD million  

transportation expenses
Transportation expenses comprise the most significant share of SUEK’s overall  cost of sales 
(48% in 2012). Transportation expenses in 2012 amounted to USD 2,094 million, which was 
USD 197 million (10%) higher than in 2011:

The major share of transportation expenses relates to rail road transportation expenses  
(76% of total transportation expenses in 2012):

USD mln 2012 2011 ∆ ∆%

Rail road transportation expense 1,599 1,449 150 10%

Freight costs 254 210 44 21%

Port transhipment services 241 238 3 1%

     third party ports 202 200 2 1%

     Vanino Bulk terminal 39 38 1 3%

total 2,094 1,897 197 10%
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Port transhipment services
Port transhipment expenses increased slightly by 1%; this was mainly due to the 15% 
growth in the volume of transhipments, including a 20% increase in transhipments through 
Vanino. At the same time, the average cost of transhipment declined by 11%.

Vanino Bulk terminal
The capacity of SUEK’s terminal in Vanino is 12 million tonnes per annum, and the Company 
plans to expand the terminal further through additional capital investment. The terminal 
reloaded 12 million tonnes of coal and 217 ships in 2012.

transhipments in ports 2012 2011 ∆ ∆%

transhipment, USD mln 241 238 3 1%

transhipment, mt 31.0 26.9 4.1 15%

Cost of transhipment, USD/t 7.8 8.8 (1.0) (11%)

Rail cars transportation fee
The decrease in expenses on operators’ services was related to RZD’s using the fleet of 
railcars of private operators. In addition, from the middle of 2012 major operators reached 
an agreement to reduce the cost of services for the provision of railcars for carriage to 
Russian ports and for border crossings. 

Rail cars rent fee
The increase in costs on leasing railcars for export was wholly due to the 20% increase in 
the volume of export shipments.

Freight costs
The volume of freight increased by 1.2 million tonnes in 2012, and amounted to 19.3 million  
tonnes (6% more than in 2011). Freight expenses amounted to USD 254 million, which was  
USD 44 million (21%) higher than in 2011; this change in expenses was chiefly due to 
the increase in freight rates (the average freight rate was USD 13.1/t in 2012, versus 
USD 11.6/t in 2011).

Freight 2012 2011 ∆ ∆%

Freight, USD mln 254 210 44 21%

Volume of freight, mt 19.3 18.2 1.1 6%

Cost of freight, USD/t 13.1 11.6 1.5 13%

mt 2012 2011 ∆ ∆%

Atlantic 11.0 10.0 1.0 10%

Pacific 7.5 7.7 (0.2) (3%)

     incl. Vanino 5.0 4.0 1.0 25%

South 0.8 0.5 0.3 60%

total 19.3 18.2 1.1 6%

Freight volumes in 2011-2012, million tonnes
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Structure and trends of the cost of sales of own coal, USD million

6.3.2. Cost of sales of own coal

6.3.3. Purchased coal

The cost of sales of SUEK’s own coal in 2012 was USD 1,652 million, which was USD 109 million  
(7%) higher than in 2011. One of the main goals of the Company’s management was to keep cost  
of sales growth within inflation (6.6%). Additionally cost of sales increased by 6% due to growth  
of mining production by 6% which was partially offset by 6% weakening of the exchange rate.

The 39% decrease in coal purchases from third parties was due to a 23% decrease in 
volume purchases of coal combined with lower prices on purchased coal.

Labour expenses
The increase in labour expenses by USD 31 million (6%) was within official levels of inflation 
(consumer price index), which stood at 6.6% in 2012. 

Materials and spare parts
The increase in materials and spare parts expenses by USD 80 million (24%) occurred due 
to the following:
• an increase in costs on fuel and lubricants by USD 35 million, due to a 20% increase in the 

cost of diesel fuel and also as a result of an increase in the freight carriage in connection 
with an 8% increase in stripping work;

• an increase in costs of explosives by USD 11 million, due to a 30% increase in the cost of 
ammonium nitrate, an increase in drilling and blasting work in open-pit mining works, and 
the independent purchase of ammonium nitrate (which had previously been included in 
the cost of drilling and blasting services);

• an increase in industrial rubber goods by USD 7 million, due to a freight carriage increase;
• other materials and spare parts costs increased by 14%, due to a 7% increase in material 

costs and a 6% increase in coal production. 

 
 
6.4. 
Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses, USD million 

In 2012 selling and administrative expenses fell by 25% compared to 2011, and amounted 
to USD 138 million.

Salary costs accounted for more than half of selling and administrative expenses (53% 
in 2012, versus 54% in 2011). Salary costs dropped by 26% as a result of an 11% reduction 
in average headcount and a 55% reduction in bonuses and incentive payments. Bonuses in 
2011 were higher, in connection with payments to senior management under a three-year 
incentive programme. No such payments were made in 2012.

Consulting, legal, audit and other professional services declined by 43% compared to previous 
years, and amounted to USD 20 million. Expenses were higher in 2011 due to IPO preparations 
and a reorganisation; as a result, the level of expenses incurred in 2012 returned to the 
same level as before 2011.

USD mln 2012 2011 ∆ ∆%

Labour 543 512 31 6%

Materials and spare parts 413 333 80 24%

third-party services 402 393 9 2%

Purshased power 83 90 (7) (8%)

taxes 76 86 (10) (12%)

Land rent 27 32 (5) (16%)

other 108 97 11 9%

total 1,652 1,543 109 7%

USD mln 2012 2011 ∆ ∆%

Labour expenses 73 98 (25) (26%)

Consulting, legal, audit  
and other professional services 20 35 (15) (43%)

Charitable donations 20 23 (3) (13%)

office rent 12 11 1 9%

Customs duties 5 5 (0) (11%)

other 8 12 (4) (33%)

total 138 184 (47) (25%)
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6.5.
EBItDA

EBItDA in 2010–2012, USD million 

In 2012, EBITDA fell by 11% compared to 2011 and 
amounted to USD 1,576 million. This decrease was 
primarily attributable to a decline in export prices, 
a reduction in domestic coal sales volumes, and 
increased production and transportation expenses, 
which were partially offset by an increase in export 
volumes and higher domestic prices. 

2010 2011 2012

1,086

1,771
1,576

25%

31%
28%

EBITDA margin, %EBITDA

6.6. 
Finance costs
Finance costs, USD million 

USD mln 2012 2011 ∆ ∆%

Interest expense 125   149   (24)   (16%)

Bank commission and charges 33   31   2   6%

Unwinding of discount on environmental  
obligation 8   12   (4)   (33%)

Change in fair value of derivatives 6   51   (45) (88%)

Interest income (28) (18)   (10)   56%

total 144 220   (76)   (35%)

Finance costs in 2012 were down by 35% compared to the previous year, and amounted to 
USD 144 million. This decrease was mainly due to a USD 45 million reduction in the fair value 
of derivatives, and a USD 24 million decline in interest expenses on loans and borrowings. 
During 2012 SUEK repaid part of its debt, and raised new loans at a lower interest rate. At the 
end of the year, the Company contracted a syndicated loan of USD 600 million, which was 
secured by export incomes. The average interest rate of the Company’s debt portfolio fell 
from 3.77% in 2011 to 3.44% in 2012.
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6.7. 
net profit
net profit in 2010-2012, USD million 

In 2012 SUEK achieved net profits of USD 967 million,  
which increased by 18% compared to the previous 
year, chiefly due to foreign-exchange gains received 
in 2012. The net profit margin also increased in 2012,  
from 14% to 17%.

2010 2011 2012

309

822

967

7%

14%

17%

Net profit margin, %Net profit

CAPEX

6.8. 
Capital investments
Capital investments in 2011-2012, USD million 

Structure of capital investments in 2012

SUEK’s total capital investments in 2012 were USD 894 million. The main areas of the Company’s 
capital expenditures are on the maintenance and development of coal production and washing assets, 
and developing port and rail infrastructure and the maintenance of achieved mining volumes.

In 2012 capital investments to maintain and develop production capacities totalled USD 644 million.  
These investments were primarily focused on:
• increasing the production of export-quality thermal coal in Kuzbass;
• increasing the production of high-quality semi-coking coal;
• increasing the capacity of hard-coal mines located in the immediate proximity of Asia-Pacific 

region markets.

Maintenance and 
development of 
mining facilities

OtherDevelopment 
of Apsat

Maintenance and 
development of coal 
preparation facilities

Maintenance 
and development
of port facilities

20111 2012

911 894

 1 Capital investments of 2011 include investments in energy sector demerged in 2011 and purchase of Apsatskoye coal field.
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In 2012 SUEK continued to invest in developing its coal washing facilities:
• Construction of a new module at the Kirova washing plant, with a production capacity of 

5 million tonnes per annum. A coal washing plant was commissioned, and in December 
2012 reached its projected capacity of 800 t/hour.

• Reconstruction of Tugnuisky washing plant was completed. The target was to increase 
throughput capacity at the plant to 9 million tonnes per annum by the end of 2012, to fully 
meet the needs of Tugnuisky mine.

• Reconstruction of the Chernogorsky washing plant was completed. The plant’s capacity 
was increased to 7.5 million tonnes per year.

• Construction works continued on a new coal washing plant in Chegdomyn, with a capacity 
of 6 million tonnes per year, which should be reached in 2014 and which will enable more 
than 85% of Urgal coal to be processed.

Investments in developing and maintaining port infrastructure in 2012 amounted to  
USD 58 million, and were aimed at increasing the transhipment capacity of Vanino Bulk 
Terminal to 20 million tonnes of coal per year.

Debt by types of currency in 2011-2012, 
USD million

2,720
2,471

 306

326
160

6.9.
Company’s debt

Debt by maturity in 2011–2012,  
USD million 

As at 31 December 2012, SUEK’s debt amounted to USD 3,298 million, which was USD 341 million  
(11,5%) higher than on 31 December 2011, due to the raising of new loans to finance the 
investment programme, purchase of additional interest in Company’s key subsidiaries (share in 
SUEK-Kransnoyarsk and SUEK-Kuzbass was increased to 100%) and acquisition of Murmansk 
Commercial Seaport.

3,298

3,298

2,560

738

350
228

2,957

2,957

2,651

2011

2011

2012

2012

Long-term debt

RUB EUR

Short-term debt

USD

In 2012 the debt structure by currencies did not change significantly compared to 2011.  
As in previous years, the majority of bank loans as at 31 December 2012 (82%) were taken out 
in US dollars. 
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2,570

3,140

1,576

2,379

2,839

1,771

Debt by types of loan in 2011-2012, 
USD million

overview of net debt in 2011-2012, 
USD million 

The key financial ratio of the Company (Net debt/adjusted EBITDA) was equal to 1.99, 
which was substantially below the maximum threshold permitted under the Company’s 
credit agreements.

Debt structure by types of financing didn’t change significantly; the share of pre-export 
financing in total debt was 78% as of 31.12.2012.

3,298

12.71

13.66

1.60 1.99

344
326
252 

 3842,957

2011

2011

2012

2012

EBITDA/Interest expense Net debt/EBITDA

Bonds

EBITDA

Other borrowingsPre-export financing

Net debt

In 2012 overall cash flows from operating activities increased by 31%, up to USD 1,039 million.  
The majority of this growth was due to a reduction in income tax and an insignificant increase 
in working capital. In total, net cash flows from operating activity increased by 49% over three 
years. In 2010-2012, cash flows from operating activities were used mainly to finance capital 
expenditures aimed at expanding and maintaining coal production assets.

2010 2011 2012

699
794

1,039

6.10. 
operating cash flows
operating cash flows in 2010-2012,  
USD million 

Cash outflows from investing activity,  
2010-2012, USD million  

The acquisition of property, plant and equipment remained at approximately the same level 
over the period 2011-2012.

Capital investments in cash flows increased by USD 93 million to USD 1,004 million, related to 
the acquisition of shares in Murmansk Commercial Seaport in the amount of USD 110 million.

633

2010

911

2011

1,004

2012

633

911 894
110

Acquisition  
of MMTP

Purchase of property, 
plant and equipment

Operating cash flows
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Environmental responsibility
Environmental responsibility – the prudent and rational 
use of natural resources – forms one of SUEK’s key 
operating principles. The Corporate Environmental 
Policy directs the Company’s enterprises and each 
employee to improve the environmental safety level 
of production activities. SUEK consistently adheres 
to the requirements of existing regulations, conducts 
a wide range of measures to reduce adverse impacts 
on the environment by reducing harmful emissions, 
and ensures the rational use of water and waste water 
treatment, waste disposal and processing and land 
reclamation.

Reducing any negative impact on the environment 
is one of SUEK’s strategic priorities. The Company 
is committed to making all efforts to maintain a 
favourable environment for future generations. When 
managing the environmental aspects of industrial 
activity, SUEK has consistently focused on the 
precautionary principle, which has been documented 
in a number of international conventions.

The Company thoroughly evaluates the potential 
environmental risks of any proposed economic 
activity, and wherever practicable strives to avoid 
serious or irreversible environmental violations.

Environmental Risk Management forms an integrated 
part of the Company’s overall risk management 
system. At the same time, the Company views the 
resolution of environmental challenges not only as 
an expense item, but also as a means to increase the 
efficiency of its business. Reducing coal losses during 
extraction and processing, ensuring energy and other 
resource consumption at all stages of the production 
process, as well as waste disposal, are factors in both 
the environmental and economic performance of 
the Company. 

In order to achieve established standards of emissions 
and discharges of pollutants, both annual and long-
term plans for environmental protection activities are 
being developed.
 
Of all the major projects executed in 2012 as part 
of the framework of OJSC SUEK’s Investment 
Programme, the following are worth noting:
• the modular design of a mine water treatment 

facilities at Kotinskaya mine;
• the design of a mine water treatment facilities 

at Khakasskaya mine;
• the construction of a water treatment facilities 

at Krasnoyarskaya mine;
• the replacement of dust removal machines 

in boilers at Kirova and Komsomolets mines;
• the repair of dust removal machines in accordance 

with scheduled maintenance at Kuzbass.

As part of the implementation of Kyoto Protocol 
agreements, in 2012 work continued at Kirova mine 
to carry out a Joint Implementation Project aimed 
at reducing greenhouse gas emissions. The project 
prescribes the use of methane from the mine to 
generate electricity and heat. In addition, in 2012 
SUEK implemented the international project CoMeth 
(Coal Mine methane – New Solutions for Use of 
Coal Mine Methane – Reduction of Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions) jointly with the European Commission, 
based on the international agreement that is part 
of the Seventh Framework Programme “Energy: 
Extending the value chain for GHG emissions other 
than СО2 with coal production and use”.

 SUEK is fully aware  
of its responsibility 
to employees, business 
partners, and society  
as a whole, and believes  
that it is necessary  
to make a contribution 
to promoting the social 
and economic development 
of the regions where 
it operates, and to be 
a reliable partner  
of the state and society 
in creating a stable 
and favourable social 
and economic  
environment.  
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Wages and staff motivation 
SUEK’s wage and employee motivation policy is 
designed to promote the attainment of the Company’s 
strategic goals and to increase economic and social 
effectiveness. SUEK strives to provide employees 
with a fair and competitive wage and offer them a 
decent benefits package. The Company indexes the 
tariff rates and wages of personnel in accordance 
with the provisions of collective agreements. In 2012 
the average monthly wage of personnel at SUEK 
enterprises stood at USD 1.1 thousand.

The Company monitors labour market trends and 
participates actively in annual wage, compensation 
and benefit surveys, which enables it to take 
balanced and substantiated decisions in relation  
to the remuneration of personnel. 

SUEK seeks to incentivise best practices and increase 
operating efficiency. In this regard, motivation schemes are 
being introduced and successfully implemented, including:
• a system of material incentives based on the attainment 

of performance targets and key performance indicators 
of the reporting period. The system covers the manage-
ment staff of the Company, from SUEK’s CEO to key  
positions at enterprises in regions where the 
Company operates;

Human resources management 
As one of Russia’s largest employers, in its activities 
SUEK focuses on maintaining its status as a socially 
responsible company. Within the framework of HR 
management the Company implements a range of 
programmes aimed at increasing personnel incentives 
to improve both their performance and the quality 
of their work, develop state-of-the-art professional 
knowledge and skills, and protect employees’ health. 
The average number of staff at SUEK in 2012 was 
around 31,000 employees.

SUEK is one of the Russian coal industry’s most 
rapidly developing companies. At a time when 
techniques and technologies are evolving and 
approaches to the management and conduct of 
business are changing, the attainment of strategic 
goals is impossible without the professional 
development of personnel. The Company values 
the time, knowledge and experience that employees 
bring to the Company. Personnel training and 
development is a key component of HR strategy. The 
training and development system in place at SUEK 
is aimed at ensuring the professional growth of the 
Company’s employees, as well as the best conditions 
for bringing out and realising employee potential. 

The Corporate University is a key link in the 
corporate training infrastructure, which exercises 
the functions of an analytical, methodological 
and consulting centre in personnel training and 
development.

The main programmes, areas and performance 
results of the Corporate University in the reporting 
year were as follows:
• Site Manager Programme: a programme to 

develop site managers and train a pool of 
candidates for this position; the training of the 
group for 2011-2012 was completed, while new 
training groups were formed for 2013-2014.

• Director Programme: a development programme for 
the directors of enterprises and the preparation of a 
pool of candidates for this position; the programme 
was launched during the reporting year. 

• Personnel were assessed, a pool of candidates 
was formed and successor programmes were 
developed for the position of Head of the 
Production Association. 

• a system of long-term incentives for project 
activities, designed to maintain the commitment 
and focus of participants on the final result of key 
strategic projects.

The application of non-cash incentives for employees 
plays a significant role in strengthening and promoting 
SUEK’s corporate culture. The Company holds annual 
workforce production competitions. Competition 
winners are awarded gifts and cash prizes. The results 
of these competitions are published in the corporate 
newspaper “Events and People”.

In the 2012 reporting year the Company’s best 
employees were presented with various types of 
awards in recognition of their dedicated work and 
service:
• 24 employees received state awards;
• 183 received awards from Ministry of Energy of the 

Russian Federation;
• over 1,000 employees received corporate awards 

from the Company. 

Personnel employment policy
The planning of personnel requirements and employee 
recruitment and selection is aimed at ensuring that 
the Company consistently has an optimal number 
of labour resources with the necessary level of 
competence to realise SUEK’s goals. 

In order to recruit young people to the Company’s 
enterprises, work is being carried out with leading 
higher educational institutions, vocational technical 
colleges, secondary educational institutions and 
schoolchildren. Events such as career guidance days 
and student tours of the Company’s enterprises are 
organised on a regular basis, and regular meetings 
are held with schoolchildren and parents regarding 
training at higher educational mining institutions and 
subsequent employment at SUEK enterprises.

• In order to share experience and study the practical 
experience of applying technologies for safe 
mining work at leading global enterprises, the 
Company organised internships in Germany for 
senior engineers, environmentalists and employees 
of production and technical functions. 

• As part of organising the personnel training and 
development process, a Corporate University portal 
was developed and launched. The portal ensures 
employees have access to all relevant information 
on training and development programmes, as 
well as to the catalogue of projects developed 
during trainings by programme participants. 
The Corporate University portal is a platform 
for sharing experience among the Company’s 
subdivisions and enterprises.

 
In the reporting year work continued on Corporate 
University programmes, which were regularly 
implemented:
• “First staff”: a development programme for top 

management;
• “Locomotive” a long-term development 

programme aimed at future Company leaders. 
 
The Company has a regional network of professional 
educational institutions, including 17 training 
centres. These institutions perform the following 
main tasks: training in new professions, training 
in second (combined) professions, increasing 
qualifications, and occupational health and safety 
training. In 2012 the Company continued to 
implement a programme to upgrade the logistics 
framework of training centres.
 
In 2012 SUEK allocated USD 1.8 million to personnel 
training and development programmes. A total 
number of 16.3 thousand employees completed 
various training programmes. 

Personnel development  
and skills upgrade
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Social partnership
The Russian Independent Coal Industry Trade Union 
(Rosugleprof) and the Independent Miner’s Union 
of Russia (NPG) operate at SUEK enterprises. Social 
partnership serves as the basis for interaction 
between the Company and trade unions.

The Company works with trade unions at industry 
and regional levels. At enterprise level SUEK is 
a constant participant of the Federal Industry 
Agreement for the Coal Industry of the Russian 
Federation. The Company’s social obligations are 
enshrined in regional bilateral agreements with trade 
unions, while the mutual obligations of the parties 
are set out in collective agreements.

SUEK pays particular attention to employee health. 
The Company has approved and is successfully 
implementing its Health Programme, which is aimed 
at protecting and fortifying employees’ health,  
as well as reducing injuries, occupational disease 
and related losses in working hours. Thanks to 
an effective in-built set of measures, including 
preventive work and promoting healthy lifestyles, the 
following was attained during the reporting year:
• a reduction in working hours lost to diseases, 

production and domestic injuries, from 12.4 days 
in 2010 to 8.2 calendar days per working employee 
per annum;

• an increase in the percentage of healthy employees 
(Company health index) from 55% to 65.8%;

• a reduction in the percentage of employees who 
are frequently ill or ill for extended periods due to 
illness – from 7% to 2%; and due to injuries –  
to 1.5%.

Society
The Company’s social policies in the regions where 
it has a presence are implemented by the Non-Profit 
Organisation Fund of Social and Economic Support – 
SUEK for Regions Fund. This includes both its own 
projects and programmes, as well as joint projects 
with regional and municipal authorities, non-profit 
and non-governmental organisations.

The Company’s social priorities remain unchanged: 
a consistent increase in the quality of the lives 
of its employees and their families and the all-
round development of regions where SUEK’s 
enterprises operate. The Company’s main goal is 
to develop human capital, as this is what creates 
the fundamental conditions for the sustainable 
development of regions. The attainment of this goal 
is based on the underlying development models for 
such regions:
• providing employment for the population;
• expanding and diversifying activities;
• revitalising local communities;
• expanding the market for services and establishing 

workplaces;
• implementing innovative technologies and 

approaches in the social sector.

One of the most important objectives of the 
Company’s social policy is to ensure the 
sustainability of the results of social investments in 
regions where SUEK operates. For this purpose a 
range of measures has been developed to increase 
the sustainability of the results of social investments:
• aligning the system for raising budget and extra-

budgetary funds; 
• aligning public-private partnerships;
• raising the level of qualifications of employees 

from social infrastructure institutions and 
employees of local government authorities, for the 
purpose of using and developing new financial and 
organisational opportunities;

• empowering stakeholder groups from the local 
community so as to involve their resources in 
the establishment and development of social 
infrastructure;

• increasing collaboration with partner organisations 
interested in developing the social infrastructure of 
regions;

• implementing new mechanisms to develop regions 
and reproduce successful practice.

Reproducing successful practices and 
establishing “growth points” within social 
infrastructure:
• Recreational science museums in Republic 

of Buryatia and the Chegdomyn settlement in 
Khabarovsk Territory were created.

• An agency was opened to support small- and 
medium-sized businesses in the city of Sharypovo 
in Krasnodar region.

• The first trade fair of entrepreneurial projects in 
Buryatia was held. 

the implementation of new development 
mechanisms and practices in the region:
• Comprehensive investment plans were developed 

for the city of Chernogorsk in the Republic of 
Khakassia and the Chegmodyn Settlement in 
Khabarovsk Territory.

• Frameworks were drafted for the Abakan-
Chernogorsk and Kuzbass agglomerates.

Interregional events:
• An interregional social project competition, 

“Comfortable Living Environment” was held.
• Children’s street play areas were built.
• A competition of children’s innovation projects, 

“Breakthrough to the 21st Century”, was held. 
• A Festival of Science was held.
• The educational project “Economic and Financial 

History of Russia” was implemented.

Review of key regional  
social projects in 2012 
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Republic of Khakassia:
• Participation in the 2nd International Forum 

“Historical and cultural heritage as a resource 
for the development of the region”, held on 
the initiative of the government of the Republic 
of Khakassia, with the support of the Russian 
Government and UNESCO.

• Supporting the Abakan puppet theatre Fairy Tale 
and participation in the preparation and holding 
of the 7th International Environmental and Ethical 
Festival of Puppet Theatres “Spirit of the Earth”.

Primorye territory:
• Children’s taekwondo sections were developed, 

including sections for disabled children.
• The development of a physical education and 

sports movement, and social adaptation and 
physical rehabilitation of handicapped persons in 
Primorye.

• The 6th Open Taekwondo Cup of Primorye 
Territory was held. 

• A comprehensive sports competition for 
handicapped and disabled people.

• Children’s sport complexes in the Primorye urban 
settlements were opened. 

• An insulin pump was purchased for a child with 
diabetes.

trans-Baikal territory:
• Paying for the treatment abroad of a severely ill child.
• The acquisition of a prosthetic knee for a mining 

industry veteran.

Republic of Buryatia:
• Co-financing the construction of a swimming 

pool in Sagan-Nur village of the Mukhorshibirsky 
district.

• Assistance to religious organisations.
• Organising the retraining of Republican Hospital 

health care staff.
• Participation in the international trade fair of social 

and pedagogical innovations at the municipal 
autonomous educational institution Sagan-Nursk 
Secondary School.

• Supporting the municipal autonomous educational 
institution Sagan-Nursk Secondary School.

Krasnoyarsk territory:
• Opening an agency to support small- and medium-

sized businesses in the city of Sharypovo. 
• Renovating educational institutions.
• Supporting the infrastructure of cultural 

institutions, the acquisition of a bus.
• Acquisition of sanatorium treatment packages for 

state pensioners.
• Construction of children’s playgrounds.
• Upgrading facilities at the municipal health care 

institution Rybinsk Central District Hospital.
• Financial assistance to the Krasnoyarsk District 

Hospital of War Veterans.

Khabarovsk territory:
• Participation in festivities to commemorate the 

85th anniversary of the Verkhnebureinsk District.
• Supporting the development of children’s sport.

Kemerovo Region:
• Holding of the first festival of science in Leninsk-

Kuznetsk in partnership with the Kuzbass State 
University and the Siberian Federal University. 

• Holding a competition of school R&D projects 
“Breakthrough to the 21st Century”.

• Charitable assistance to the Kemerovo regional 
V.M. Romanov public fund “In Memory of Miners”.

• Financing summer holidays in Greece for children.
• Co-financing the construction of the Cathedral of 

Christ’s Nativity in Novokuznetsk.
• Financing the reconstruction of Krasnaya Gorka 

museum.
• New Year presents for Kuzbass orphans.
• Supporting children’s and youth sport. 
• Supporting children’s musical bands.
• Providing assistance to coal industry veterans.

Federal projects

The SUEK for the Regions fund participated in the 
establishment and implementation of comprehensive 
development programmes of the single-industry 
cities Chegdomyn (Khabarovsk Territory) and 
Chernogorsk (Republic of Khakassia), and supported 
the participation of representatives of Kemerovo 
Region and Leninsk-Kuznetsk in federal meetings 
and conferences on single-industry cities.

Work was actively carried out to include the cities 
in the list of population centres of the Russian 
Federation to be accorded state support.

In 2012 the SUEK for Regions Fund continued a 
widely praised joint project with the Office of the 
President of the Russian Federation. During the project 
approximately 425 children (children of miners and 
children from orphanages and socially vulnerable 
families) from regions where the Company operates 
were treated at the Polyana rehabilitation ward of the 
Children’s Medical Centre of the Office of the President 
of the Russian Federation (Moscow region).

Around a hundred former miners received professional 
medical assistance from the Rehabilitation Centre of 
the Office of the Russian President (Herzen).

In 2012 SUEK for the Regions fund provided financial 
assistance to veterans and disabled police and 
Interior Ministry troops.
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Corporate governance represents a key component 
of the Company’s business performance and SUEK 
therefore devotes significant attention to improving 
corporate governance within the Company. SUEK’s 
corporate governance system is based on norms 
prescribed by law of Russian Federation, together 
with accepted international best practices actively 
incorporated by the Company.

The Company makes sure that the rights and 
legal interests of its shareholders and investors 
are recognised, and discloses key management 
decisions aimed at safeguarding assets and 
maximising profits and capitalisation. 

SUEK’s corporate governance system is based on 
the following principles:
• the equal treatment of Company shareholders and 

the legal recognition and protection of their rights;
• ensuring that effective internal control and audit 

systems are in place;
• ensuring the transparency of the Company’s 

information and finances;
• compliance with the ethical standards of business 

conduct;
• effective interaction with Company employees to 

resolve social issues and to provide appropriate 
working conditions.

SUEK is Russia’s largest coal company, and the 
scale of its activities requires a high level of 
responsibility to its shareholders, employees, 
customers and suppliers, as well as to the 
population and society as a whole. In this regard, 
SUEK strives to make every reasonable effort to 
meet its commitments.

SUEK’s basic current internal  corporate  
governance regulations comprise the following:
• the Charter;
• regulations on preparing, convening  

and holding a General Meeting  
of Shareholders;

• regulations on the Board of Directors;
• regulations on the Management Board;
• regulations on the Auditing Commission;
• the Code of Corporate Conduct;
• insider Information Regulations; 
• the Information Policy.

All the above documents can be found on the 
Company’s website: www.suek.ru.

SUEK adheres to the provisions of the Code 
of Corporate Conduct of the Federal Securities 
Market Commission (FSMC) of the RF, as well as  
the re commendations of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code.

8.1. 
Corporate  
governance structure

SUEK’s governing bodies
The Company’s governing bodies are the General 
Meeting of Shareholders, the Board of Directors, 
the Management Board and the CEO.
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The General Meeting of Shareholders (GM) is 
the Company’s highest governing body and has 
authority over decisions relating to the Company’s 
most significant operations (including approval of 
the Charter, reorganisation and liquidation issues, 
and election of the Board of Directors). The GM 
upholds the fundamental rights of shareholders, 
allowing them to  act as Company owners.
 
Investors and shareholders can receive information 
about and materials for shareholder meetings held at 
the Company, as well as copies of documents upon 
request. 

The annual General Meeting of Shareholders and one 
extraordinary meeting were held in June 2012. The 
decisions of the meetings of shareholders included 
the approval of the annual report and financial 
statements for the 2011 reporting year, appointing 
an auditor, electing the Board of Directors and 
Auditing Commission, and the distribution of profits. 

Shareholders reviewed the extension of the D&O 
liability insurance policy for 2012-2013, and approved 
amendments to the Company’s Charter. The results of 
the GMs are available on the Company’s website. 

The Board of Directors determines the Company’s 
mission, provides its strategic direction, and 
ensures the supervision of management activities. 
The Board’s objective is to ensure that management 
is able to efficiently manage the Company, leverage 
strategic opportunities, adequately assess risks, 
and make provisions for the Company’s sustainable 
development. The extensive professional experience 
of Board members helps to ensure a high level of 
strategic oversight.

Since 2005 the Company’s Board has included 
independent directors; 50% of Board members 
(not including the Chairman) are independent. 
Independence criteria for directors are set forth 
in the Regulations on the Board of Directors, and 
comply with the recommendations of the Code 
of Corporate Conduct of the FSMC of Russia and 
the UK Corporate Governance Code. 

The work of the Board of Directors is based on the 
recommendations and professional judgements 
of its four Committees:
• the Strategy Committee;
• the Audit Committee;
• the Nomination and Compensation Committee;
• the Health, Safety and Productivity Performance 

Committee. 

The members of the Audit Committee and the 
Nomination and Compensation Committee are  
all independent directors.

The Board and management work together to support  
the effective exchange of information between 
meetings. Informal consultations and visits 
to SUEK production facilities are held, and directors 
receive monthly management reports, notifications 
on important Company events, and market and 
industry reviews.

The Board of Directors works according to a plan 
aimed at increasing the Board’s performance. 
In 2012, Board member attendance was 96%.  

All Board members may participate in the work of 
any committee. Meeting materials are made available 
ahead of the meetings, which allows members to 
study the matters in depth. The committees and 
management make constant efforts to improve the 
format of documents submitted for consideration by 
the Board of Directors. Detailed studies of management 
initiatives at the early stages and the preparation of 
recommendations enable the Board to work more 
effectively. The documents of the Board of Directors 
and Committees are made available in Russian and 
English. The office of the Board of Directors, headed 
by the Corporate Secretary, provides support for the 
Board’s work.

The performance of the Board of Directors is 
assessed on a regular basis. SUEK used a new 
survey-based approach to assess the Board’s 
performance in 2012, and the results of the surveys 
were openly discussed. Directors were given the 
opportunity to comment on their performance 
appraisal, and to independently elaborate practical 
steps for improvement. 

Since 2006, it has been the Company's policy to 
secure liability insurance for both members of the 
Board of Directors and key Company executives. 

8.2. 
the General Meeting 
of Shareholders

8.3. 
the Board 
of Directors
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The Board and the Nomination and Compensation 
Committee monitored the appointment of qualified 
personnel and a reliable talent pool for significant 
projects. A number of important appointments were 
made to top executive positions at the Head Office 
and regional enterprises.

In 2012 a new long-term incentive management 
system was adopted, to encourage managers to 
implement long-term strategic projects. The Board 
discussed and approved the goals of key managers 
for 2012 and 2013. 

The meetings of the Board of Directors open with 
a discussion of industrial and environmental health 
and safety issues at SUEK enterprises. Together 
with management, Health, Safety and Productivity 
Performance Committee assessed the situation 
at underground and open-pit mines and the 
effectiveness and reliability of safety measures,  
and closely monitored important indicators in 
this area. During visits to SUEK’s coal mining 
enterprises in Kemerovo Region, Directors 
discussed operating performance issues, as well as  
the working conditions of miners and the company’s 
social security.

The Board of Directors, together with the Audit 
Committee, continued work on establishing an 
effective monitoring system and to develop the 
Internal Control and Audit functions. The objectives 
of internal audit are focused on increasing the 
efficiency of business processes, and precedence 
is given to those areas which represent tactical and 
strategic priorities for the Company.

The work of the Board of Directors fully covered 
all matters within its terms of reference. Of special 
note, the Board drew up recommendations for 
the governing bodies of SUEK of subsidiaries and 
affiliates on key issues. 

Structure of the Board of Directors
Prior to 21 June 2012, the Board of Directors 
of OJSC SUEK consisted of 10 members:
• Martin Andersson
• Dmitry Bosky (Independent Director)
• George Cardona
• Gert Maichel (Independent Director)
• Mikhail Kislyakov (Independent Director)
• Alexander Landia (Senior Independent Director)
• Andrey Melnichenko (Chairman of the Board of 

Directors)
• Vladimir Rashevsky
• Dmitry Strezhnev
• Anatoly Ruban (left the board on 26 November 

2011 passing away prematurely).

On 1 January 2013, the Company renamed the 
Krasnoyarskaya mine located in Kuzbass as the 
Rubana mine. It was the Company’s wish that the 
name of this distinguished Russian mining scholar 
be remembered, in gratitude for the contribution he 
made to the Company’s development.

Following the results of the annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders held on 21 June 2012, the following  
members were elected to the SUEK Board of Directors:
• Martin Andersson
• Klaus-Dieter Beck (Independent Director)
• Dmitry Bosky (Independent Director)
• George Cardona
• Alexander Landia (Senior Independent Director)
• Andrey Melnichenko
• Roger Munnings (Independent Director)
• Vladimir Rashevsky
• Richard Sheath (Independent Director)
• Dmitry Strezhnev.
 
Andrey Melnichenko was re-elected Chairman of the 
Board of Directors.

As a result, three new independent directors were 
elected as part of the planned rotation of the Board 
of Directors: Klaus-Dieter Beck, Roger Munnings and 
Richard Sheath – all with industry-specific and other 
skills valuable to the Company.

In February 2013 George Cardona brought to an 
end his longstanding and productive directorship at 
SUEK. During his years of work with the Company, 
George has won the well deserved respect of his 
colleagues, both among the Board and management. 

Brief biographies about the members of the Board 
of Directors is provided on page 80.

the Board of Directors: 
Performance Results

In 2012 the Board of Directors held seven meetings 
through joint participation (including one offsite 
meeting), and 22 meetings in absentia.

The Board focused on issues related to the strategic 
development of various business segments. 

During the reporting year the Board reviewed the 
development strategy for Tugnuisky open-pit and 
the Nikolsky field (which are among Russia’s three 
largest open-pit coal mines), and discussed the 
marketing and sales strategy for the coal from these 
mines. 

A development strategy was approved for SUEK’s 
Kuzbass group of enterprises, which includes nine 
underground mines and three open-pit mines 
grouped into two segments (Leninsk-Kuznetsky 
and Kiselyovsk). Development strategies were also 
approved for Apsatskoye field, which contains 
reserves of valuable coking coal, and for Khakassia, 
aimed at increasing production, marketing and sales 
of domestic coal to energy companies and export 
to the East. 

The budgeting principles were revised under the 
direction of the Board. Budget indicators are now 
aligned with strategic indicators in such a way that 
the Board can make adjustments by assessing 
deviations in budget indicators. 

The quality of investment planning also figures 
prominently. The Board assessed the performance 
of investments, and identified investment priorities 
for the coming year. Control was tightened over 
the implementation of key investment projects to 
upgrade the Company’s existing production facilities 
and the creation of new production facilities. 
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the Strategy Committee  
This Committee was established primarily to prepare  
recommendations for the Board of Directors 
concerning long- and medium-term development 
strategies. 

The Committee focuses on how the Company responds  
to the changing macroeconomic and market situation,  
and the Company’s cash flows, financing and 
investment programmes. The Committee thoroughly 
analyses the strategic initiatives, risks and factors 
which affect performance. The Committee’s task 
is to prepare in conjunction with management, 
solutions enabling the Company to make use of its 
strategic advantages and consciously take advantage 
of new opportunities. 

The membership of the Strategy Committee did not 
undergo any changes during the reporting year:
• Andrey Melnichenko (Chairman)
• Alexander Landia
• Vladimir Rashevsky
• Dmitry Strezhnev.

the Audit Committee  
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 
oversees the following:
• the preparation of financial statements and an 

annual audit;
• management reports;
• the budgeting and planning process;
• management and control over the most significant 

risks, including financial risks.

The membership of the Audit Committee prior to 
21 June 2012:
• Dmitry Bosky (Chairman, Independent Director)
• Mikhail Kislyakov (Independent Director)
• Gert Maichel (Independent Director).

The membership of the Audit Committee after 
21 June 2012:
• Richard Sheath (Chairman, Independent Director)
• Dmitry Bosky (Independent Director)
• Roger Munnings (Independent Director).

In 2012 the Committee held seven plenary meetings 
and one remote meeting. 

The Audit Committee performs quality control over 
financial statements and their comparability and 
reliability. The Committee is pleased to note that 
a shorter timeframe is now required to prepare and 
publish high quality financial statements, and their 
high quality.

The Committee supervises the activity of independent 
and internal auditors. Measures were taken under the 
Committee’s direction to optimise the performance 
of the Internal Control and Audit, approve audit plans, 
analyse major observations made based on audit 
results, and evaluate the adequacy and promptness of 
management responses and actions.

The Committee held six meetings in 2012. Meetings 
are typically held in an expanded format, with the 
participation of key executives and Board members 
who are not Committee members.

The Committee focused on the following issues in 
the reporting year: 
• developing methods to increase the Company 

value, determining the target structure of the 
holding, searching for effective solutions to the 
organisation of functions within the Company: 
production, marketing and sales, finance, legal, 
human resources, information technology, etc.;

• reviewing certain segmental and functional 
strategies, as well as certain key enterprises 
(for example, the Kuzbass Group);

• setting investment priorities;
• analysing strategic options, including increasing 

the Company’s coal reserves, expanding port 
facilities, and resolving transportation issues 
related to exports.

Prior to the creation of the Health, Safety and 
Productivity Performance Committee, the 
Strategy Committee reviewed industrial safety and 
environmental policy issues, and was responsible for 
the effective implementation of major projects. Under 
the Committee’s direction a number of solutions 
for changing the purchasing strategy for various 
categories of goods and services were implemented.

The Committee keeps in close contact with the CEO, 
CFO, and the Head of the Internal Control and Audit 
Service. Regular meetings are held with the external 
Auditor (CJSC KPMG), both with and without the 
participation of Company management. In 2012, 
possible approaches were considered for the annual 
external audit performance appraisal. 

Over the reporting year, the Committee emphasized  
developing a system of internal control and risk 
management functions, with trading risks being 
allocated to a separate category. The option to insure 
specific underground mining risks was considered, 
including in relation to business interruptions. Based 
on the results of discussions with management, 
a plan for carrying out a risk management system 
based on examples of specific business processes 
was prepared.

The Committee reviewed internal audit issues 
throughout the year, and analysed internal audit 
processes. Potential risks were identified, and key 
areas of control were defined. 

During the year the Committee continued to monitor 
the implementation of programmes to upgrade the 
Company’s weighing stations and to integrate weight 
estimates with the SAP system.

 
8.4. 
the Committees of the Board of Directors

     Annual Report 2012
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the nomination and Compensation 
Committee

The Committee’s tasks include assisting the Board 
of Directors and management on issues in the 
following areas:
• the HR strategy;
• nominations and compensation;
• corporate governance;
• social issues.

Nomination and Compensation Committee 
membership prior to 21 June: 
• Alexander Landia (Chairman, Senior Independent 

Director)
• Gert Maichel (Independent Director)
• Dmitry Bosky (Independent Director).

Committee members after 21 June 2012:
• Alexander Landia (Chairman, Senior Independent 

Director)
• Klaus-Dieter Beck (Independent Director)
• Dmitry Bosky (Independent Director).

The Committee held eight plenary meetings in 2012. 

Under the Committee’s guidance, policy analysis 
was performed for compensation and benefits, 
and a new incentive system for top management 
was introduced, including a long-term motivation 
programme that incents managers to implement 
strategic long-term projects. Discussions were held 
on individual performance targets for 2013, which 
are set in conjunction with budget indicators and 
strategic goals. In April 2012 the Company made 
a decision on the payment of management bonuses 
for 2011, based on the Company’s excellent financial 
results and its achievement of targets, as well as on 
the payment of one-time bonuses to certain regional 
directors for outstanding production achievements, 
including setting  global and Russian national 
records.

The Committee plays a central role in the review  
a broad range of corporate governance issues – 
from the selection to the Board of new candidates 
with skills and experience that correspond to the 
Company’s changing objectives, to appraisal of the 
Board’s performance.

Following its inception in September 2012 of 
the Health, Safety and Productivity Performance 
Committee, issues of occupational safety and 
support for an effective industrial safety monitoring 
system (previously considered by the Nomination 
and Compensation Committee) were transferred to 
this new body. As a result, new Regulations on the 
Nomination and Compensation Committee were 
reviewed and approved.

The Committee is responsible for ensuring continuity 
in the leadership of the Company, and is an essential 
link in the selection of candidates for key executive 
positions and in the creation of a talent pool. In 2012 
the Director of Human Resources and Administration 
and the Logistics Director were appointed. Work 
was carried out to bring in to the Board of Directors 
highly skilled independent directors with valuable 
industry experience. As a result, three new 
independent directors were nominated to the Board 
in 2012. 

The Company has always recognised the importance 
of skilled professionals for the successful 
performance. The Nomination and Compensation 
Committee oversees the creation of a talent pool of 
successors for managers of SUEK’s underground 
and open-pit mines. In 2012 the Committee 
considered and evaluated the Company’s personnel 
training and development programmes at various 
management levels – from the heads of production 
units to programmes aimed at top management. 
The Committee’s agenda included issues related to 
the organisation of administrative functions, human 
resource policies within the Company, and planning 
staff numbers and costs.

The Committee strives to:
• retain valuable specialists;
• assure the Board that management compensation 

corresponds to market benchmarks;
• drive management to achieve the strategic goals of 

the Company and its shareholders. 
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the Health, Safety and Productivity  
Performance Committee 

The Committee was established primarily to ensure a 
more in-depth examination of issues and to prepare 
recommendations for the Board of Directors on 
control over the Company’s management of HSE and 
performance matters. 

The Committee’s priorities including drafting 
recommendations on the principles of establishing 
optimal business conditions, ensuring an increase 
in all key performance indicators and matters 
related to the environmental impact of production, 
and health and safety issues.

The Committee performs a thorough analysis of 
management’s activities to minimise the risks of non- 
compliance with the requirements on the environmental 
impact of production and health and safety, including an 
analysis of the consequences of emergency situations 
that resulted in an interruption of production and/or 
accidents, and an assessment of the effectiveness of 
management’s responses to such situations. 

Committee membership in 2012:
• Klaus-Dieter Beck (Chairman, Independent Director)
• Dmitry Strezhnev (Member of the Board of 

Directors).

The Committee was created on 17 September 2012. 
Since its inception two meetings plenary meetings 
have been held.

All meetings are held in an expanded format, with the 
participation of key executives and Board members 
who are not members of the Committee.
During meetings in the reporting year the Committee 
considered the following key issues: 
• industrial and environmental safety conditions at 

SUEK group enterprises;

• the system of key efficiency control performance 
indicators;

• the operating efficiency of individual group 
enterprises;

• confirmation of the feasibility of projects proposed 
by management;

• the results of implementing significant projects;
• the purchasing strategy for certain categories of 

goods and services.

Board remuneration  
The new SUEK Board Member Regulations 
govern the procedures for determining the 
amount of remuneration, remuneration payments 
and reimbursement of expenses related to the 
performance of the functions of members of the 
Board, were approved at the annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders held on 9 June 2011. Board member 
remuneration is determined based on a director’s 
functions: membership in and chairmanship of Board 
committees, and the performance of the duties of the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Senior 
Independent Director.

The total amount of remuneration paid to members 
of the Board of Directors of SUEK in 2012 amounted 
to USD 3.5 million. The total amount of expense 
reimbursement made to Board members in 2012 
was USD 0.2 million.

Board of Directors meeting attendance in 2012

Director Board of Directors Audit Committee
nomination and 
Compensation 

Committee
Strategy Committee HS&PP Committee

total meetings1 72 (22) 7 (1) 8 6 2
Martin Andersson 6 (21) - - - -
Klaus-Dieter Beck 3 (11)3 - 24 - 2
Dmitry Bosky 7 (22) 7 (1) 75 - -
George Cardona 6 (22) - - - -
Mikhail Kislyakov 2 (11)6 1 (1)7 - - -
Alexander Landia 7 (22) - 8 6 -
Gert Maichel 2 (10)8 2 (1)9 210 - -

Roger Munnings 5 (10)11 512 - - -

Andrey Melnichenko 7 (22) - - 6 -

Vladimir Rashevsky 7 (22) - - 6 -

Dmitry Strezhnev 5 (22) - - 6 2
Richard Sheath 5 (11)13 514 - - -

Notes:
1 The number of remote meetings is given in parentheses.
2 Including one off-site meeting on 3 November 2012.
3 Mr Beck joined the Board of Directors on 21 June 2012.
4  Mr Beck did not take part in the meetings of the NCC until 2012. Since he was only elected to the NCC on 21 June 2012. After being elected, he did not take part 

in the meeting on 31 October 2012.
5 Mr Bosky did not take part in the NCC meeting on 30 August 2012.
6 Mr Kislyakov joined the Board of Directors before 21 June 2012.
7 Mr Kislyakov joined the Audit Committee before 21 June 2012. but did not take part in the meeting on 21 February 2012.
8 Mr Maichel joined the Board of Directors before 21 June 2012.
9 Mr Maichel joined the Audit Committee before 21 June 2012.
10 Mr Maichel joined the NCC before 21 June 2012.
11 Mr Munnings joined the Board of Directors on 21 June 2012.
12 Mr Munnings did not take part in the meetings of the Audit Committee before June 2012. Since he was only elected to the Audit Committee on 21 June 2012.
13  Mr Sheath joined the Board of Directors on 21 June 2012.
14  Mr Sheath did not take part in Audit Committee meetings before June 2012. Since he was only elected to the Audit Committee on 21 June 2012.
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Andrey Melnichenko

Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chairman of the 
Strategy Committee.

Mr Melnichenko was initially elected as a member 
of the Board of Directors of the Company in March 
2004, and was most recently re-elected in 21 June 
2012.

He was born in 1972. Studied at the Physics 
Department of Moscow State University, and 
graduated from Plekhanov Russian Academy of 
Economics with a degree in Finance and Credit. In 
1993 he was a co-founder of MDM Bank, one of 
Russia’s largest private banks. From 1997 to 2001 
he was Chairman of the Management Board of the 
bank, and until 2005, he was Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of the bank.

Over the past 20 years, Mr Melnichenko has played 
a significant role in building some of Russia’s most 
successful corporations. These include EuroChem, 
SUEK and TMK (Russia’s largest manufacturer and 
exporter of steel pipes).

Mr Melnichenko has been a member of the Board 
of Directors at RAO UES of Russia and TMK, and is 
currently the Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
OJSC EuroChem Mineral and Chemical Company. 
He also sits on the Bureau of the Management 
Board of the Russian Union of Industrialists and 
Entrepreneurs.

Biographical information  
of Board members

Martin Andersson

Board member

Mr Andersson was originally elected as a member 
of the Board of Directors on 20 December 2006, and 
was most recently re-elected in 21 June 2012.

Mr Andersson was born on 23 December 1966. 
After graduating from the Stockholm School of 
Economics in 1989 and HEC Paris in 1990, he 
worked as a consultant at Booz Allen Hamilton in 
Mergers & Acquisitions. From 1992-1993 he served 
as an advisor to the Privatisation Committee of the 
Government of the Russian Federation.

In August 1993 Mr Andersson was one of the co-
founders of Brunswick Group and was appointed 
the CEO of Brunswick Brokerage in November 1993. 
He became the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of Brunswick UBS Warburg in 1999. Mr Andersson 
also chaired the Boards of Directors of Brunswick 
Capital Limited (2002-2007) and Brunswick Rail 
Leasing (2005-2007).

Currently Mr Andersson also sits on the Boards 
of Cabo Delgado Investments and Brunswick Rail.

Klaus-Dieter Beck

Board member, Chairman of the Health, Safety and 
Productivity Performance Committee, member of 
the Nomination and Compensation Committee (first 
elected as a Board member in June 2012).

Mr Beck was born in 1955. He has a Ph.D. in Mining 
Engineering and a M.S. in Mining Engineering from 
Rheinisch-Westfälische Technische Hochschule in 
Aachen.

He has been a non-executive Director of NWR since 
January 2013. 

He served from June 2007 to April 2013 as an 
executive director of NWR NV.

He has served as CEO and chairman of the board of 
directors of OKD from July 2007 to December 2012. 
He has also been a member of the Supervisory Board 
of TUEV-Nord/Hannover in Germany since 2008.

Prior to joining OKD, he was Senior Vice President for 
planning and engineering at Foundation Coal Holdings, 
Inc. in 2004-2007. Foundation Coal had previously 
been the RAG American Coal business before its 
acquisition by private equity.

Mr Beck began working with RAG’s American 
business in 1998 when he joined the Riverton Coal 
subsidiary as Vice President. He undertook several 
planning & engineering roles, culminating in his 
being appointed Senior Vice-President for Planning, 
Engineering & General Equipment Management.

Earlier, Mr Beck worked with RAG in Germany. 
Between 1996 and 1998 he was General Mine 
Manager of the Friedrich Heinrich Mine.

Before this, he was Chief Engineer of the Ruhrkohle 
Niederrhein subsidiary.  

Mr Beck joined RAG in 1981 working in a series of 
technical and operational roles of increasing seniority.
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Dmitry Bosky

Board member, member of the Audit Committee, 
member of the Nomination and Compensation 
Committee.

Mr Bosky was originally elected as a member of the 
Board of Directors in December 2006, and was most 
recently re-elected on 21 June 2012.

Mr Bosky was born in 1959. He graduated from the 
University of California, Berkeley in 1981 with an 
Honours BSc degree in Operations Research and 
Finance. In 1983 he earned an MBA from Harvard 
Business School, where he was elected President of 
the International Business Club.

After a spell working at Shell Oil, Mr Bosky joined 
the Los Angeles-based Security Pacific Capital 
Group, where he eventually rose to the position of 
Managing Director Europe. He opened and ran its 
first international office in the UK, and managed the 
group’s interests in industrial companies in the USA, 
Britain, Germany, France, Switzerland and Belgium. 
Mr Bosky also advised Margaret Thatcher on issues 
of entrepreneurship in Eastern Europe and the CIS.

Mr Bosky has been Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Berkeley Capital Partners since he 
founded the Company in 1992. Berkeley Capital 
Partners has offices in London, Moscow and 
Novosibirsk. He is an advisor to the European Bank 
for Reconstruction and Development. Until 2004, 
he chaired the Board of Directors of X5 Retail Group 
N.V., Russia’s largest retailer. Since 2008, he has 
been the CEO of Aton Capital Partners, the private 
equity division of IG Aton.

In 2008 Mr Bosky won the Russian Association of 
Independent Directors "Independent Director of the 
Year" award.

He is a Fellow of the Royal Society of Arts. He has 
published a number of articles and has edited a book 
on private equity.

George Cardona

Board Member, Strategy Committee member.

He was originally elected as a Board member in 
December 2006, and was most recently re-elected in  
June 2012.

Mr Cardona was born in 1951. He graduated from 
Trinity College, Oxford, with Honours in Philosophy, 
Political Science, and Economics.

Mr Cardona was Head of Strategy of HSBC Group, 
and was subsequently appointed General Manager 
of International Banking at HSBC Bank. He has been 
a board member of a number of banks and financial 
companies in Europe and the USA. In 1979 he was 
appointed Special Adviser to the UK Treasury under 
the Margaret Thatcher administration.

Mr Cardona is a member of the Boards of EuroChem 
Mineral and Chemical Company and Linea Ltd., and 
is Chairman of the Strategy Committee of the OJSC 
EuroChem Board.

Alexander Landia

Senior Independent Director, Chairman of the 
Nomination and Compensation Committee, member 
of the Strategy Committee.

Mr Landia was Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
the Company in 2006-2011, and was most recently 
re-elected in 21 June 2012.

Mr Landia was born in 1962. He graduated 
with honours from Tbilisi State University, with 
a Candidate’s degree in Mathematics and Physics.

In 1993-2001 Mr Landia worked for Dresdner Bank 
AG (Frankfurt-am-Maine, Germany) as First Vice 
President Oil & Gas Global Debt.

Mr Landia headed Accenture Russia as the partner 
of Accenture from 2001 to 2004. After that, he was 
appointed Global Gas Lead Partner.

From 2006 to 2010, Alexander was the Chairman 
of the SUEK Board of Directors. The Russian 
Association of Independent Directors elected 
Mr Landia as the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
2007.

Currently, Mr Landia is a member of SGK Board 
of Directors, member of the Board of Directors of 
Lambert Energy Advisory Ltd. (London, UK, since 
February 2007),  co-founder and Managing Director 
of Bernotat &Cie. (Germany, since 2011),  and a 
member of the Board of Directors of the Mobility 
House (Switzerland, since 2011). 

 

Roger Munnings

Board Member, Member of the Audit Committee.

Mr Munnings was elected as a member of the Board 
of Directors in June 2012.

Mr Munnings was born in 1950. He graduated with 
honours from Oxford University with a Master of Arts 
degree in Politics, Philosophy and Economics.

Mr Munnings has been a member of the Board of 
JSFC Sistema since 2010 and is Chairman of its 
Audit Committee. He is also currently Chairman of 
the Audit Committee Institute in Russia and First 
Deputy Chairman of the Executive Board of the 
Association of European Businesses (AEB) in Russia.

He formerly held positions as Chairman and CEO 
of KPMG Russia and CIS (1996 to 2008); Chairman 
of KPMG’s Global Energy and Natural Resources 
Practice (1993 to 2008); and he was a member of 
the Global Council of KPMG (2000 to 2008).

Mr Munnings is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales. In 2007 he was 
appointed Commander of the Order of the British 
Empire (CBE).

Mr Munnings is an active member of a number of 
public organisations, including the National Council 
on Corporate Governance in Russia; the Union 
of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs in Russia; the 
Russian Union of Directors, and the Russo-British 
Chamber of Commerce.
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Vladimir Rashevsky

Board Member, Member of the Strategy Committee.

Mr Rashevsky was originally elected as a member of 
the Board of the Company in June 2012.

Mr Rashevsky was born in 1973. He studied at the 
Faculty of International Economic Relations of the 
Financial Academy of the Russian Government, 
majoring in Global Economics, and graduated with a 
Ph.D. in Economics. 

Mr Rashevsky has extensive banking experience. He 
held various positions in Avtobank from June 1992 
to May 2000, working his way up to the position 
of Deputy Chairman of the Board. In May 2000 he 
moved to MDM Bank, as Head of the Investment 
Department. In July 2000 Mr Rashevsky was 
appointed Deputy Chairman of the Board of the 
bank. In December 2001 Mr Rashevsky became 
Chairman of the Management Board of MDM Bank.

In the spring of 2004 Mr Rashevsky became 
President of OJSC SUEK, and at the end of 
2004 he became CEO of the Company. His 
key responsibilities include elaborating and 
implementing a new development strategy for 
Russia’s largest coal company; the consolidation 
of coal and power generation assets; the 
reorganisation of the Company’s control system 
and the implementation of a programme to increase 
efficiency and productivity.

Dmitry Strezhnev

Board Member, Member of the Strategy Committee, 
Member of the Health, Safety and Productivity 
Performance Committee.

Mr Strezhnev was originally elected as a member 
of the Board Directors in June 2011 and was recently 
re-elected in June 2012.

Mr Strezhnev was born in 1968. He graduated with 
honours from the Physics Department of Moscow 
State University, and earned an MBA from the 
Russian Government Academy of National Economy.

He was the head of Agrodortekhsnab LLP and 
Tekhsnab-2000 LLC, trading companies that sell 
road and construction machinery and provide 
maintenance and repair services. He held the post 
of Deputy Director of JSC Dorstroykomplekt, which 
specialises in road construction. He was appointed 
Director General of OJSC Likinsky Bus Plant, which 
manufactures large buses. For a number of years 
Mr Strezhnev worked as Executive Director at JSC 
Ruspromavto, a joint enterprise that manufactures 
cars and trucks, buses, construction and road 
machinery, and he was also Executive Director at the 
automobile factory of OJSC GAZ.

Since 2003 Mr Strezhnev has been Director General 
of OJSC EuroChem Mineral and Chemical Company, 
and since 2007 he has been a Board member of 
EuroChem.

Richard Sheath

Board Member, Chairman of the Audit Committee.

Mr Sheath was first elected as a member of the 
Board of Directors in June 2012.

He was born in 1962. Mr Sheath has extensive 
experience in the development of internal control, 
risk management and corporate reporting. He is 
a director and co-founder of Independent Audit 
Limited, a consultancy specialising in corporate 
governance. He advises numerous leading 
companies in the United Kingdom and overseas on 
all aspects of governance, with a particular focus 
on audit and risk committees, risk management, 
improving the control culture and corporate 
reporting.

Previously Mr Sheath was a Partner in the 
risk management consulting practice of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, and spent six years with 
the firm’s practice in Russia. He began his career 
with the Bank of England and HM Treasury (Finance 
Ministry).

Mr Sheath earned an MBA from City University 
(London) and graduated with an honours degree 
in History from the University of York (UK).
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8.5.
Chief Executive officer, 
Management Board
the Chief Executive officer and 
Management Board

Current Company activities are run by a sole 
executive body (the Chief Executive Officer and 
a collegial executive body), and the Company 
Management Board, created by a resolution of the 
General Meeting of Shareholders held on 28 June 
2004. 

The CEO of the Company is appointed by 
the Board of Directors for an indefinite term. 
Vladimir Rashevsky has been CEO of SUEK since 
23 December 2004. The competence of the CEO 
includes the management of current activity, with 
the exception of issues assigned to the exclusive 
competence of the General Meeting of Shareholders, 
the Board of Directors and the Management Board. 
The main tasks of the Management Board include 
the timely and effective execution of decisions of the 
General Meeting of Shareholders and the Board of 
Directors, and coordinating the overall development 
strategy and activities of SUEK enterprises. The 
Management Board also has the authority to resolve 
the most challenging issues related to managing 
the current activities of SUEK. The Management 
Board acts in the interests of the Company and its 
shareholders, and reports to the General Meeting of 
Shareholders and the Board of Directors. According 
to SUEK’s Charter, Management Board members 
may not account for more than one-fourth of the 
members of the Board of Directors. 

The numbers and membership of the Management 
Board did not change in the reporting year. As at 31 
December 2012 the following were members of the 
Management Board:
• Vladimir Rashevsky  

(Chairman of the Management Board)
•  Vladimir Artemiev  

(Member of the Management Board)
•  Igor Gribanovsky  

(Member of the Management Board)
•  Kuzma Marchuk  

(Member of the Management Board).

Seven permanent guests from among the 
Company’s key executives, who are not members 
of the Management Board, took part in the work of 
Management Board meetings.

In 2012, 29 Management Board meetings were 
held, including 12 through joint attendance and 
17 in absentia. At these meetings 104 issues were 
considered, including 83 through joint attendance 
and 21 in absentia. 253 decisions were taken during 
the meetings.

The focus of the Management Board’s work 
included adjusting the Company’s segment and 
consolidation strategies; the exploration of new 
strategic development opportunities; issues related 
to ensuring both the stable work of coal mining 
enterprises and the performance of production and 
sales programmes; the effective implementation 
of investment programmes and the performance 
of major projects; systematic work to achieve new 
levels of control in the area of industrial safety; and 
ensuring the further evolution of the Company’s 
business arrangements, management model and 
corporate structure. 

Certain issues related to operations management 
and current activity are considered at meetings of 
special committees and commissions, created in 
accordance with the Regulations on the Management 
Board. The committees and commissions ensure 
the cross-functional interaction of key executives 
and experts on core issues related to the Company’s 
activity. The following were active in the Company in 
the reporting period, holding a total of 76 meetings: 
• Restructuring Commission;
• Business Ethics Commission;
• Procurement Committee;
• Investment Committee;
• Supervisory Committee on Information 

Technologies;
• Risk Management Committee;
• Budget Committee;
• Industrial Safety Committee.

Since August 2005 the duties of Chairman of the 
Management Board of SUEK have been carried out 
by the CEO of the Company.

Chairman  
of the Management Board
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Vladimir Rashevsky

Board Member, Member of the Strategy Committee.

Mr Rashevsky was originally elected as a member of 
the Board of the Company in June 2012.

Mr Rashevsky was born in 1973. He studied at the 
Faculty of International Economic Relations of the 
Financial Academy of the Russian Government, 
majoring in Global Economics, and graduated with a 
Ph.D. in Economics. 

Mr Rashevsky has extensive banking experience. 
He held various positions in Avtobank from June 
1992 to May 2000, working his way up to the 
position of Deputy Chairman of the Board. In May 
2000 he moved to MDM Bank, as Head of the 
Investment Department. In July 2000 Mr Rashevsky 
was appointed Deputy Chairman of the Board of 
the bank. In December 2001 Mr Rashevsky became 
Chairman of the Management Board of MDM Bank.

In the spring of 2004 Mr Rashevsky became 
President of OJSC SUEK, and at the end of 
2004 he became CEO of the Company. His key 
responsibilities include elaborating and implementing 
a new development strategy for Russia’s largest 
coal company; the consolidation of coal and 
power generation assets; the reorganisation of the 
Company’s control system and the implementation 
of a programme to increase efficiency and 
productivity.

Vladimir Artemiev

Deputy Director General, Director of Production 
Operations at OJSC SUEK.

Mr Artemiev was born in 1965. He graduated  
from the Novocherkassk Polytechnic Institute as 
a mining engineer in 1987, and in 1994 he graduated 
from the Russian Government Academy of National 
Economy, majoring in Management. Mr Artemiev also  
holds the degree of Doctor of Technical Science.

From 1982 to 1998 Mr Artemiev held executive 
positions at OJSC Gukovugol. From 1998 to 2002, 
he served as the General Director of OJSC Gukovugol.

Mr Artemiev has also served as Head of the Coal 
Industry Department of the Ministry of Industry and 
Energy of the Russian Federation. In 2004-2006, he 
was Head of the Mines Inspectorate of the Federal 
Service for Environmental, Technological and 
Nuclear Supervision (Rostekhnadzor).

Since April 2006, Mr Artemiev has held the position 
of Deputy General Director of Production Operations 
at SUEK.

Mr Artemiev was awarded the Order of Courage and 
the “Shakhterskaya Slava” (Miners’ Glory) medal, 
third degree, for managing a miner rescue operation.

Since 2007 Mr Artemiev has been a management 
board member of the Non-Profit Organisation 
Regional Social and Economic Support Fund “SUEK 
for the Regions”.

Mr Artemiev was elected to the Management Board 
of SUEK on 30 January 2007. 

Brief biographical information 
on Management Board members

Members of the Management Board Kuzma Marchuk

Deputy General Director for Economy and Finance; Chief 
Financial Officer of SUEK since 26 December 2011.

Mr Marchuk was born in 1973. In 1996 he graduated 
from the Physics Faculty of Moscow State University. 
In 1995 he graduated from the Faculty of International 
Business of the Plekhanov Russian University of 
Economics, with a degree in Foreign Affairs of 
Enterprises and Organisations.

From 2004 to 2010 he worked in OJSC Uralkali as 
Vice-President for Finance, and was a member of the 
Company’s Board of Directors. Up to 2004 he held 
executive positions in the large Russian companies 
JSC Protek, JSC Norilsk Mining and Metallurgical 
Works (NGMK), and the audit firms Deloitte & Touche 
and Rosexpertiza. 

Mr Marchuk was elected to the Management Board 
of SUEK on 28 December 2011.

Igor Gribanovsky

Deputy General Director, Commercial Director of 
OJSC SUEK.

Mr Gribanovsky was born in 1972. He graduated from the 
Moscow Institute of Steel and Alloys, majoring in Metal 
Forming (1994). After finishing his studies at the Institute, 
he enrolled in a graduate programme at the Economics 
Faculty of Moscow State University, majoring in Public 
Sector Economics.

From 1996 to 2001 he worked in the Moscow 
representative office of the Japanese company Nichimen 
Corporation, in the Coal and Metals Department.

From 2001 to 2005 he headed the export business at 
OJSC Vostsibugol, OJSC Rosuglesbyt and OJSC SUEK.

Mr Gribanovsky joined the SUEK Group in 2001 as Head 
of Exports, and from July 2005 to March 2007 worked 
as Managing Director of SUEK AG, Switzerland.

Mr Gribanovsky has worked as the Deputy General 
Director and Commercial Director of SUEK since 
March 2007, and he was elected to the Management 
Board of SUEK on 30 January 2007.

Members of the Management Board and the CEO of the Company are remunerated according to the following system:
• a fixed remuneration component (salary);
• a variable remuneration component (annual bonus).

The fixed remuneration component (salary) is established for members of the Management Board and the CEO 
according to their respective job duties.
The aim of the variable remuneration component (annual bonus) is to provide incentives to achieve the Company’s 
strategic goals, and to recruit and retain the best managers.

The size of the annual bonus is determined based on the attainment of key performance targets, which are 
determined annually for each member of the Management Board, and individually for the CEO, based on a 
breakdown of the strategic goals of the Company.

The total amount of remuneration paid to members of the Management Board and the CEO based on performance 
results in 2012 equalled USD 3.5 million.
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8.6.
Risk management
8.6.1. Risk management system
The activities of the SUEK Group involve to various 
potential risks that could have a significant impact 
on its operations and financial results. 

SUEK Group has a functioning Corporate Risk Manage-
ment System geared to promptly identifying all potential 
sources of risk. Risk analysis and management is 
carried out in accordance with the Company’s adopted 
risk management standard, thereby ensuring:
• the application of a risk management system that 

complies with the Company’s overall strategy and is  
integrated into all management levels, functions 
and plans;

• the integration of the risk management system in 
the overall corporate governance system and the 
annual planning process;

• the identification of risks that may have an adverse 
impact on the Company’s operations at all levels;

• the identification, continuous assessment, 
and documentation of all significant risks that 
may potentially have an adverse impact on the 
attainment of the Company’s declared goals;

• the planning of risk management measures on an 
integrated basis;

• Company employees being informed about their 
risk management responsibilities through training 
and awareness programmes.

 

8.6.2.  Main risks 
Country risk
SUEK Group operates primarily in the Russian 
Federation. Consequently, the country risk of the 
Russian Federation is of paramount importance. 

Over the past decade significant political, economic 
and social changes have occurred in the Russian 
Federation. The Russian Federation is a country 
with a transitional economy, and it currently does 
not have a sufficiently developed business and 
legislative infrastructure in place, including stable 
banking and court systems which are a feature of 
countries with more mature market economies. 

In addition, virtually all privatisation transactions in 
the Russian Federation at the beginning of the 1990s 
were performed with various infringements. At the 
same time, however, even the most insignificant 
error in privatisation documents could be used 
to contest the overall validity of a privatisation 
transaction and consequently the title to the property 
acquired as a result of the privatisation.

The stability and development of the Group’s 
business will depend on the ability of the 
Government of the Russian Federation to implement 
judicial and other reforms.

The risk management system is integrated in the 
corporate governance system of SUEK Group. 
Management regularly monitors the status of the 
most critical risks and reports to the Board of 
Directors of SUEK Group on the effectiveness of 
implemented measures. 

This Annual Report does not contain an exhaustive 
description of all the risks that may affect the 
Company’s operations. We describe below the key 
risks that could have a material impact on SUEK 
Group actions, its financial position, and operating 
and financial results. Other risks not listed in 
this Annual Report could be material and have a 
significant adverse impact on the Group’s operations, 
financial position, operating and financial results.

Financial risks
In the normal course of its operations the Group is 
exposed to market risk (including foreign currency 
risk and interest-rate risk), and credit and liquidity 
risks. The Group’s risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on 
the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses 
derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk 
exposures.

Risk management is carried out by the Risk 
Committee, which convenes on a regular basis, and 
the Central Treasury Department under policies and 
rules approved by the Board of Directors. The Board 
of Directors approves overall risk management 
principles, as well as policies covering specific 
areas, such as foreign currency risk, interest-rate 
risk, credit risk and the use of derivative and non-
derivative financial instruments. 
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, 
such as foreign currency rates, interest rates and 
equity prices will have an adverse impact on the 
Group’s financial results or the fair value of its 
holding of financial instruments. The aim of market 
risk management is to manage and control market 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 
optimising the return on risk.

Market risk management includes the analysis of 
foreign currency and interest-rate risks.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty may not 
meet its obligations to the Group on a timely 
basis, resulting in financial losses. The Group 
minimises its exposure to this type of risk by 
ensuring that credit risk is spread across a large 
number of counterparties. Group customers 
include international companies and large Russian 
companies, and credit is only extended to these 
customers after the performance of stringent credit 
approval procedures.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be 
able to settle all its liabilities by their date of maturity. 

During 2012 and 2011 capital markets experienced 
significant volatility, including a lack of available 
sources of financing, a rise in interest rates and 
significant fluctuations in the Russian Rouble 
against the US Dollar and Euro. Despite stabilisation 
measures undertaken by various governments, 
markets continue to be volatile. 

Prudent liquidity risk management includes 
maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of 
funding from an adequate amount of committed 
credit facilities, and the ability to close out market 
positions. Group management expects that cash 
generated from operations will be the major source 
of the Group’s liquidity in 2013 and will be sufficient 
to finance the investment projects of the Group.

Capital management risk
The Group’s key objectives in the area of capital 
management risk are to safeguard stable credit 
solvency and a normal level of capital adequacy to 
enable the Group to continue as a going concern 
so that it can provide returns to shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholder groups, and maintain 
the optimal capital structure required to reduce the 
cost of capital.

The Group defines capital as shareholders’ equity. 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends 
payments, return capital to equity holders, or issue 
new shares. The Group’s overall strategy for 2013 
remained unchanged compared to previous years. 

8.6.3. System of internal controls
The Company has implemented and has in place 
a fully operational system of internal controls. The 
system covers the Company’s the key business 
processes, including the preparation of financial 
statements.

The system of internal controls is governed by the 
Regulations on the system of internal controls of 
the financial and business activities of the Company, 
approved by the Board of Directors.

One of the main goals of the Company’s internal 
control procedures is to ensure the reliability and 
completeness of financial statements. At the same 
time, internal controls are performed through a 
number of procedures, including the organisation of 
a system for collecting, processing and transferring 
information, and the generation of reports and 
communications containing operating, financial and 
other information.

The system of internal controls applied at 
the Company is based on the demarcation of 
competencies included in the system of controls 
of financial and business activities of the groups 
and individuals responsible for the development, 
approval, application and assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal control procedures.

Elements of the system of internal controls in 
relation to the reliability, completeness and 
timeliness of financial statements relate to the 
actions of management bodies and sub-divisions, 
in accordance with the duties vested in them. 

The main tasks of the risk management system 
are to identify and assess potential risks in the 
Company’s existing business processes, and to 
develop and implement control procedures that 
make it possible to minimise or avoid such risks.

Legal risks
The Group is involved in a number of minor lawsuits 
and claims concerning the sale of products, the 
procurement of raw materials and consumption of 
services, and also minor tax disputes. Management 
believes that none of these lawsuits or disputes, 
either separately or in aggregate, will have a material 
adverse impact on the Group’s financial position and 
operations.

In addition, risks caused by the following factors may 
be classed among the legal risks that could have an 
impact on SUEK’s operations:
• amendments to tax legislation;
• amendments to legislation on securities, 

antimonopoly and corporate legislation;
• amendments to customs control rules and 

customs duties, currency regulation;
• changes to rules on licensing and the legislation on 

subsoil use;
• the potential tightening of environmental protection 

legislation requirements, or changes in their 
practical application;

• changes to court practice.

In order to mitigate these risks, the Company 
monitors trends in regional and national law 
enforcement practice, analyses and assesses 
legislative initiatives, and promptly reacts to any 
changes in legislation.
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Audit Committee
The duties of the Audit Committee during the 
preparation of financial statements include: 
• the preliminary consideration of the Company’s 

financial statements and draft opinions of the 
external auditor, their discussion with executive 
bodies of the Company before consideration by 
the Board of Directors;

• analysis of the Company’s annual report and 
other published information, and the drafting 
of recommendations relating to their preliminary 
approval;

• drafting recommendations on the candidate for 
appointment as the external auditor, analysis of its 
professional qualifications and independence;

• the settlement of potential disputes arising during 
the performance of the audit, including any 
limitations on the scope of audit procedures or 
access to information;

• oversight of internal control and audit, including its 
organisational independence and objectivity.

External audit of financial statements 
SUEK’s external auditor, responsible for the audit 
of the Company’s annual cons
olidated financial statements prepared in accordance 
with IFRS, is elected annually after a preliminary 
consideration of proposals from the Big Four 
audit firms. The Audit Committee considers 
such proposals and, based on the results of their 
review, submits to the Board of Directors its 
recommendations on the selection of the auditor, as 
well as on the amount of the auditor’s fee and other 
terms and conditions of its work. In 2012, based on 
a recommendation from the Audit Committee, the 
CSJC KPMG company was selected by the Board 
of Directors to audit the Company's IFRS financial 
statements.

Chief Financial officer 
The Chief Financial Officer is vested with a number 
of duties, including: 
• monitoring the availability and reliability 

of information in the enterprise’s resource 
management system. Responsibility for inputting 
such information into the system rests with the 
office of the Chief Financial Officer; 

• organisation interaction with auditors;
• performing a stock take of Company assets.

Risk Management Committee
The responsibilities of the risk management 

committee include the following:
• oversight of the effectiveness of the system 

and the internal control procedures, drafting 
recommendations on how to improve them;

• oversight of the effectiveness of the risk 
management process at the Company, drafting 
recommendations on how to improve this process;

• approving the map of the Company’s key 
risks and monitoring enterprises’ efficiency in 
mitigating key risks.

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of the Company approves 
the annual consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS on the basis 
of recommendations from the Audit Committee.
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telephone +7 (495) 937 4477
Fax +7 (495) 937 4400/99
Internet www.kpmg.ru

ZAo KPMG
10 Presnenskaya naberezhnaya
Moscow, Russia 123317

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of SUEK PLC (the “Company”)  
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of Financial position as at 
31 December 2012, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ 
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
 
opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated Financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2012, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

ZAO KPMG
31 January  2013

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the shareholders of SUEK PLC

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
Millions of US Dollars

notes 2012 2011
Continuing operations

Revenue 6 5,635 5,683
   Cost of sales 7 (4,368) (4,182)

Gross profit 1,267 1401
   Selling, general and administrative expenses 8 (138) (184)
   other (expense)/income 9 17 6

operating profit 1,112 1,323
   Finance costs 10 (144) (220)
   Share of profit of associates, net 12 9 4
   Gain from disposal of investments 16 28
   Foreign exchange gain/(loss) 149 (41)

Profit before tax 1,154 1,066

Income tax expense
   Current income tax expense (161) (226)
   Deferred income tax expense (26) (46)

total income tax expense 24 (187) (272)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 967 794

Discontinued operations
   Profit for the year from discontinued operations 32 — 28

Profit for the year 967 822
   Attributable to:
      ordinary shareholders of the parent 927 782
      non-controlling interests 40 40

Profit for the year 967 822

other comprehensive income
   Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges,  
   net of deferred tax 16 40 1

   transfer of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges to the income  
   statement, net of deferred tax 16 (28) 51

   Actuarial losses (14) (6)
   Change in fair value of available for sale investments, net of deferred tax (17) 3
   translation difference 72 124

total other comprehensive income 53 173

total comprehensive income for the year 1,020 995
   Basic and diluted darnings per share from continuing operations (in US Dollars) 2 2
   Basic and ditiledearnings per share from discontinued operations (in US Dollars) — —

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming part of, the consolidated financial statements set out on pages 8 to 48.

V.V. Rashevskiy 
Director
31 January 2013

 
K.V. Marchuk 
Director

100

ZAO KPMG, a company incorporated under the Laws of the Russian Federation, a subsidiary 
of KPMG Europe LLP. and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member 
firms affiliated with KPMG international Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.



103102

 SUEK PLC   Annual Report 2012     Consolidated Financial Report

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December, Millions of US Dollars
Assets notes 2012 2011
non-current assets 4,429 3,477

Property, plant and equipment 11 3,905 3,071
Long-term receivables 32 300 300
Goodwill 31 119
Investment in associates 12 60 48
Deferred tax assets 24 25 13
other assets 20 45

Current assets 1,711 1,336
Inventories 13 462 364
trade accounts and other receivables 14 849 625
Prepaid and recoverable taxes 15 231 204
Derivative financial assets 16 11 25
Cash and cash equivalents 17 158 118

total assets 6,140 4,813

Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December, Millions of US Dollars
notes 2012 2011

Profit before tax from continuing operations 1,154 1,066
Profit before tax from discontinued operations — 45
Adjustments to profit before tax:

Share of profit of associates 12 (9) (4)
Gain from disposal of investments 16 (28) —
Amortisation and depreciation 384 419
Gain from disposal of property, plant and equipment (2) (1)
Finance costs 10 144 220
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (149) 25
other, net 1 3

Changes in working capital items:
Increase in inventories (69) (81)
Increase in trade accounts and other receivables (94) (243)
Decrease/(increase) in prepaid and recoverable taxes

(other than income tax) 10 (64)
Increase/(decrease) in trade accounts and other payables 80 (130)
(Decrease)/increase in taxes payable (other than income tax) (17) 21

net cash inflow from operations 1,405 1,276
Interest and commissions paid (190) (193)
Income tax paid (176) (289)

net cash inflow from operating activities 1,039 794
Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (894) (911)
Acquisition of oJSC “MMtP”, less cash acquired 12, 31 (110) —
Interest received 17 14
Loans issued (99) (133)
Proceeds from sale of shares in oJSC “DEC” 16 42 2
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 9 8

net cash outflow from investing activities (1,035) (1,020)
Financing activities

Purchase of additional interest in subsidiaries 30 (269) (4)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 798 1,769
Repayments of long-term borrowings (462) (1,382)
(Repayments of)/proceeds from short-term borrowings, net (12) 411
Cash proceeds from issue of shares 18 — 7,151
Cash paid to acquire oJSC “SUEK” — (8,145)
Cash inflow on de-merger of power business, net of cash disposed of 32 — 706
Dividends paid by the Company 18 — (393)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest (17) (17)

net cash inflow from financing activities 38 96
Foreign exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents (2) (23)

net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 40 (153)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 17 118 271

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17 158 118

The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the consolidated financial statements set out on pages 8 to 48.

Equity and Liabilities
Equity 1,541 511

Share capital 18
Share premium 7,151 7,151
other equity (8,145) (8,145)
Hedging reserve (7) (19)
translation reserve 11 (54)
Retained earnings 2,372 1,497

Attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent 1,382 430
non-controlling interests 159 81

non-current liabilities 3,024 2,990
Long-term borrowings 20 2,560 2,651
Deferred tax liabilities 24 265 218
other liabilities 21 199 121

Current liabilities 1,575 1,312
Short-term borrowings 20 738 306
trade accounts and other payables 22 553 691
Derivative financial liabilities 16 209 242
taxes payable 23 75 73

total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 6,140 4,813

 The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the consolidated financial statements set out 
on pages 8 to 48.
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Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year ended 31 December, 
Millions of US Dollars

Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year ended 31 December, 
Millions of US Dollars

notes
Share 
capital

Share 
premium other equity

Additional 
paid-in capital

Hedging 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

translation 
reserve

Attributable 
to ordinary 

shareholders 
of the parent

non- 
controlling 
interests total

Balance at 1 January 2012 — 7,151 (8,145) — (19) 1,497 (54) 430 81 511
Profit for the year — — — — — 927 — 927 40 967
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 16 — — — — 40 — — 40 — 40
transfer of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges to the profit or loss 16 — — — — (28) — — (28) — (28)
Actuarial loss 21 — — — — — (14) — (14) — (14)
Change in fair value of available for sale investments — — — — — (17) — (17) — (17)
translation difference — — — — — — 65 65 7 72

total comprehensive income for the year — — — — 12 896 65 973 47 1,020
Purchase of additional interest in subsidiaries 30 — — — — — (21) — (21) (24) (45)
Consolidation of oJSC “MMtP” 31 — — — — — — — — 72 72
Dividends to non-controlling interests — — — — — — — — (17) (17)

Balance at 31 December 2012 — 7,151 (8,145) — (7) 2,372 11 1,382 159 1,541

 The consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the consolidated  
financial statements set out on pages 8 to 48.

notes
Share 
capital

Share 
premium other equity

Additional 
paid-in capital

Hedging 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

translation 
reserve

Attributable 
to ordinary 

shareholders 
of the parent

non- 
controlling 
interests total

Balance at 1 January 2011 — — — 852 (70) 1,219 (153) 1,848 437 2,285
Profit for the year — — — — — 782 — 782 40 822
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 16 — — — — 1 — — 1 — 1
transfer of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges to the profit or loss 16 — — — — 51 — — 51 — 51
Actuarial loss 21 — — — — — (6) — (6) — (6)
Change in fair value of available for sale investments — — — — — 3 — 3 — 3
translation difference — — — — (1) — 99 98 26 124

total comprehensive income for the year — — — — 51 779 99 929 66 995
Issue of shares 18 — 7,151 — — — — — 7,151 — 7,151
Acquisition of oJSC “SUEK” — — (8,145) — — — — (8,145) — (8,145)
Purchase of additional interest in subsidiaries — — — — — 3 — 3 (10) (7)
De-merge of power business 32 — — — (852) — (108) — (960) (395) (1,355)
Recognition of option agreement for shares of oJSC “DEC” — — — — — (3) — (3) — (3)
Dividends 18 — — — — — (393) — (393) (17) (410)

Balance at 31 December 2011 — 7,151 (8,145) — (19) 1,497 (54) 430 81 511

 The consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part  
of the consolidated financial statements set out on pages 8 to 48.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 
Millions of US Dollars, unless otherwise stated

1. GEnERAL InFoRMAtIon 

organisation and principal activities. SUEK PLC 
(the “Company”) was founded and registered in the 
Republiс of Cyprus (“Cyprus”) on 13 April 2011. The 
Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred 
to as the Group. The principal activity of the Group is 
the extraction and sale of coal. 

The principal ultimate beneficiary of SUEK PLC is 
Mr Andrey Melnichenko. In 2011 SUEK PLC was 
a subsidiary of DONALINK LIMITED (“DONALINK”), 
a Cyprus based holding company. 

The main asset of the Company is Open Joint Stock 
Company (“OJSC”) “Siberian Coal Energy Company” 
(“SUEK”). In May 2011, DONALINK sold all SUEK 
shares it owned at that date to SUEK PLC. As a result of 
this reorganization, SUEK PLC became the immediate 
parent company of SUEK. This acquisition was treated 
as a reorganisation under common control with 
historical IFRS values of SUEK being carried over into 
the consolidated financial statements of SUEK PLC. 

In April 2011, most of the power business was de-
merged from the coal business of SUEK. Assets 
attributable to the power segment after de-merger 
consist of a long-term receivable for the power 
business, option agreements for shares of power 
companies and investments in OJSC “DEC” and 
OJSC “Kuzbass power sales company”. Following 
the de-merger income and expenses relating to the 
de-merged entities were presented as discontinued 
operations for the year ended 31 December 2011. 

In 2012, as the result of transactions under common 
control, Westline Private Trust Company Limited 
became the immediate parent company of SUEK PLC. 
At the date of signing of these financial statements 
MADAKE ENTERPRISES COMPANY LIMITED was an 
immediate parent company of SUEK PLC. 

SUEK PLC has its registered office at 3, Georgiou 
Katsounotou, Kitallides building, 2nd Floor, 3036, 
Limassol, Cyprus. 

2. BASIS oF PRESEntAtIon  

These consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have 
been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for: 
• valuation of property, plant and equipment, 

including mineral rights, at the date of adoption 
of IFRS 1 – “First Time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards” (“IFRS 1”) 

• which provides for entities to elect to measure 
items of property, plant and equipment, including 
mineral rights at fair value, and use that value 
as deemed cost in the future. SUEK elected to 
measure property, plant and equipment, including 
mineral rights, at fair value as of 1 January 2005, 
which forms the deemed cost of these assets; and 

• derivative financial instruments and available for 
sale financial assets which are stated at fair value. 

Functional currency. The functional currency of the 
Russian subsidiaries of the Group is the Russian 
Rouble (“RUB”), which is the currency of the primary 
economic environment where these entities operate. 
The functional currency of the Company and its 
foreign trading subsidiaries is the US Dollar (“USD”).

Presentation currency. The presentation currency 
of these financial statements was changed to 
USD for the financial year 2012. The translation 
of the consolidated financial statements into the 
presentation currency was performed in accordance 
with the requirements of IAS 21 – “The Effects of 
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”.

The following exchange rates applied at 31 
December and during the years then ended (in RUB):

USD
2012 2011

Year end 30.3727 32.1961
Average rate 31.0930 29.3874

ADoPtIon oF nEW AnD REVISED StAnDARDS AnD IntERPREtAtIonS

A number of new standards and interpretations are not yet effective as of the reporting date and have not 
been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements:

IAS 28 – “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” (effective for years beginning on or after 
1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted) prescribes the accounting for investments 
in associates and contains the requirements for the application of the equity method to 
investments in associates and joint ventures. The Group does not anticipate the standard 
having a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

IAS 32 – “Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” (effective for accounting year beginning 
on or after 1 January 2014, with earlier application permitted) clarifies the meaning of 
“currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off” and also clarifies the application of 
the IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation” offsetting criteria to settlement systems 
(such as central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement mechanisms that 
are not simultaneous. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the standard on the 
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 7 – “Disclosures of offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” (effective for periods 
accounting year beginning on or after 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted) 
would provide users with information that is useful in evaluating the effect or potential effect 
of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The Group is currently assessing the 
impact of the standard on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 9 – “Financial Instruments” (effective for accounting year beginning on 1 January 2015) was 
issued in phases and intended ultimately to replace International Financial Reporting Standard 
IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (“IAS 39”). The first phase 
of IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and relates to the classification and measurement 
of financial assets. The second phase regarding classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities was published in October 2010. The Group recognises that the new standard 
introduces many changes to the accounting for financial instruments and is likely to have a 
significant impact on Group’s consolidated financial statements. The impact of these changes 
will be analysed during the course of the project as further phases of the standard are issued.

IFRS 10 – “Consolidated financial statements” (effective for accounting year beginning on or after 
1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted) replaces all of the guidance on control and 
consolidation in IAS 27 “Consolidated and separate financial statements” (“IAS 27”) and SIC-
12 “Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities” (“SIC-12”). IFRS 10 introduces a single control 
model which includes entities that are currently within the scope of SIC-12. Under the new 
control model, an investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with that investee, has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over that investee and there is a link between power and returns. The Group has 
assessed the requirements of the standard and does not anticipate a significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements.
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IFRS 11 – “Joint arrangements” (effective for annual years beginning on or after 1 January 2013, with 
earlier application permitted) replaces IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures” (“IAS 31”) and 
SIC 13 “Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary Contributions by Ventures”. Changes 
in the definitions have reduced the number of “types” of joint arrangements to two: joint 
operations and joint ventures. The existing policy choice of proportionate consolidation for 
jointly controlled entities has been eliminated. Equity accounting is mandatory for participants 
in joint ventures. The Group does not anticipate a significant impact of the standard on the 
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 12 – “Disclosure of interests in other entities” (effective for annual years beginning on or after 
1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted) requires disclosures in a number of 
areas, including significant judgements and assumptions made in determining whether 
an entity controls, jointly controls or significantly influences its interests in other entities, 
extended disclosures on share of non-controlling interests in group activities and cash flows, 
summarised financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests, and 
detailed disclosures of interests in unconsolidated structured entities. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of the standard on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 13 – “Fair value measurement” (effective for annual years beginning on or after 1 January 2013, 
with earlier application permitted) aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by 
providing a precise definition of fair value, and a single source of fair value measurement and 
disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs. The Group is currently assessing the impact of 
the standard on the consolidated financial statements.

IAS 1
(Amended)

– “Presentation of financial statements” (effective for annual years beginning on or after  
1 July 2012) changes the disclosure of items presented in other comprehensive income. 
The amendments require entities to separate items presented in other comprehensive income 
into two groups, based on whether or not they may be reclassified to profit or loss in the 
future. The suggested title used by IAS 1 has changed to “statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income”. Presentation of the consolidated financial statements was not 
changed as allowed by IAS 1.

IFRIC 20 – “Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine” (effective for years beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted). Under the interpretation, 
production stripping costs that provide access to coal to be mined in the future are capitalized 
as non-current assets if the component of the coal body for which access has been improved 
can be identified and future benefits arising from the improved access are both probable and 
reliably measurable. The interpretation also addresses how capitalized stripping costs should 
be depreciated and how capitalized amounts should be allocated between inventory and the 
stripping activity asset. The Group recognises that the new interpretation is likely to have a 
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of the standard on the consolidated financial statements.

Seasonality of business. The business and operating 
results of the Group are substantially dependent on 
domestic and international demand. Coal markets 
are cyclical and exhibit fluctuations in supply 
and demand from year to year and are subject to 
numerous factors, including, but not limited to:
• Russian and global economic conditions; 
• regional and global supply and demand for 

domestic and foreign coal and expectations 
regarding future supply and demand; 

• fluctuations in industries with high demand 
for thermal coal, such as power generation 
companies; 

• unseasonably warm or cool temperatures or other 
climatic conditions; 

• availability and price of alternative fuels and power; 
• the proximity to, capacity of, and cost of 

transportation facilities and 
• domestic and foreign governmental regulations 

and taxes. 

Revenues from coal are concentrated in the months 
of October to March. Costs of production are 
relatively stable throughout the year. During the year 
from April to September there is a trend for servicing 
and maintenance costs to increase whilst production 
as well as the associated variable costs decrease.



 SUEK PLC   Annual Report 2012

110 111

    notes to the Consolidated Financial Report

3. SIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG PoLICIES

3.1. Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are those enterprises 
controlled by the Group. The consolidated financial 
statements incorporate the financial statements of 
the Company and its subsidiaries, from the date that 
control effectively commenced until the date that 
control effectively ceased.

Control is presumed to exist when the Company:
• owns, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, 

more than 50% of the voting equity of an 
enterprise; or 

• owns, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, 
less than 50% of the voting equity of an enterprise, 
but has the ability to: 
• govern the financial and operating policies of the 

enterprise under a statute or an agreement; 
• appoint or remove the majority of the members 

of the board of directors, or the equivalent 
governing body, and the control over the entity is 
by that board or body; or 

• cast the majority of votes at meetings of the board 
of directors or equivalent governing body, and the 
control over the entity is by that board or body. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries from third parties 
is accounted for using the purchase method of 
accounting. The identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at 
their fair values as at the date of acquisition. Non-
controlling (minority) interest is measured at its 
proportionate interest in the identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the acquiree.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the 
accounting policies used by them in line with those 
used by the Group.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and 
any unrealised gains arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.

Acquisitions of subsidiaries from entities under 
common control are accounted for on a carryover 
basis, which results in the historical book value of 
assets and liabilities of the acquired entity in

3.2. Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded  
at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are converted to 
the respective functional currency at the exchange 
rate ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange 
differences arising from changes in exchange rates 
are recognised in the income statement.

The translation of the financial statements from 
functional currency into presentation currency is 
performed in accordance with the requirements 
of IAS 21 – “The Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates” as follows:
• all assets, liabilities, both monetary and non-

monetary, are translated at closing exchange rates 
at the dates of each consolidated statement of 
financial position presented;

• all income and expenses in each consolidated 
income statement are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the years presented;

• resulting exchange differences are included in 
equity and presented separately; and

• in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash 
balances at the beginning and end of each year 
presented are translated at exchange rates at the 
respective dates. All cash flows are translated at 
the monthly average exchange rates for the years 
presented. Resulting exchange differences are 
presented as foreign exchange effect on cash and 
cash equivalents.

3.3. Property, plant and equipment
Basis of carrying value of property, plant and 
equipment.

Assets in existence at 1 January 2005. Property, 
plant and equipment in existence at 1 January 2005 
was valued by an independent firm of professionally 
qualified valuers. The basis of the valuation was fair 
value, which is defined as the amount for which an 
asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The fair 
value of marketable assets was determined as their 
market value.

However, a significant part of property, plant and 
equipment, being of a specialised nature, was valued 
on the depreciated replacement cost basis. For each 
item of property, plant and equipment, the new 
replacement cost was estimated as the current cost 
to replace the asset with a functionally equivalent 
asset. The new replacement cost was then adjusted 
for accumulated depreciation, including both 
physical depreciation and functional and economic 
obsolescence, to arrive at the fair value of the asset.

Fair value amounts have subsequently been treated 
as deemed cost in accordance with the requirements 
of IFRS 1.

Assets acquired after 1 January 2005. Property, 
plant and equipment acquired after 1 January 2005 
is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour 
and an appropriate proportion of production 
overheads, and the corresponding capitalised 
borrowing costs. Where an item of property, plant 
and equipment comprises major components having 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items of property, plant and equipment.

the consolidated financial statements of the previous 
parent being combined with that of the Group. The 
consolidated financial statements of the Group are 
retrospectively restated to reflect the effect of the 
acquisition as if it had occurred at the beginning of 
the earliest year presented providing common control 
existed at the time. For acquisitions funded through the 
issuance of shares, share capital is restated to reflect 
the combined entity based on the share exchange ratio 
at the date of the acquisition. Any difference between 
the purchase price and the net assets acquired is 
reflected in additional paid-in capital or other equity.

Changes in ownership interests by the Group in a 
subsidiary, while maintaining control, are recognised 
as an equity transaction.

The result of disposal of equity investments to an 
entity under common control with the Group is 
recognised in equity.

Associates. An associate is an entity over which the 
Group exercises significant influence, but not control, 
through participation in financing and operating 
policy decisions, in which it normally owns between 
20% and 50% of the voting equity. Associates are 
equity accounted from the date significant influence 
effectively commenced until the date that significant 
influence effectively ceased.

Any losses of associates are recorded in the 
consolidated financial statements until the 
investment in such associates is written down to 
a nil value. Thereafter losses are only accounted 
for insofar as the Group is committed to providing 
financial support to such associates.

The carrying value of investments in associates 
represents the cost of each investment, the share of post-
acquisition retained earnings and any other movements in 
reserves. The carrying value of investments in associates 
is reviewed on a regular basis and if any impairment in 
value has occurred, it is written down in the year in which 
these circumstances are identified.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with 
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the enterprise against the investment in 
the associate.
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Expenditure incurred to replace a component of 
an item of property, plant and equipment that is 
accounted for separately, is capitalised with the 
carrying amount of the component that has been 
replaced. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised 
if future economic benefits will arise from the 
expenditure. All other expenditure, including repairs 
and maintenance expenditure, is recognised in the 
income statement as an expense as incurred.

Mining rights. Mining rights include expenditures 
incurred in acquiring mineral and development 
rights. Mining rights are classified as property, plant 
and equipment.

Depreciation. Mining assets are depreciated using 
the unit-of-production method based on the 
estimated proven and probable coal reserves to 
which they relate or are written-off if the property 
is abandoned or where there is an impairment in 
value. Estimated proven and probable coal reserves 
determined in accordance with internationally 
recognised standards for reporting coal reserves 
reflect the economically recoverable coal reserves 
which can be legally recovered in the future from 
coal deposits.

Tangible assets, other than mining assets, are 
depreciated using the straight-line method based on 
estimated useful lives. For each item the estimated 
useful life has due regard to both its own physical life 
limitations and, if applicable, the present assessment 
of the economically recoverable reserves of the mine 
property at which the item is located, and to possible 
future variations in those assessments. Estimates of 
remaining useful lives are made on a regular basis 
for all tangible assets, with annual reassessments for 
major items.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:
• mineral rights     5-95 years
• buildings, structures and utilities   15-44 years
• machinery, equipment and transport     4-15 years

Leased assets. Leases under which the Group 
assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. Assets 
subject to finance leases are capitalised as property, 
plant and equipment at the lower of fair value or the 
present value of future minimum lease payments at 
the date of acquisition, with the related financial lease 
liability recognised at the same value. Capitalised 
leased assets are depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives or the term of the lease, if shorter.

Finance lease payments are allocated using the 
effective interest rate method, between:
• the lease finance cost, which is included in finance 

costs; and 
• the capital repayment, which reduces the related 

lease obligation to the lessor. 

3.4. Capital construction-in-progress
Capital construction-in-progress comprises costs 
directly related to mine development, construction of 
buildings, infrastructure, processing plant, machinery 
and equipment. Amortisation or depreciation of 
these assets commences when the assets are put 
in the location and condition necessary for them to 
be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Capital construction-in-progress is 
reviewed regularly to determine whether its carrying 
value is recoverable.

3.5. Impairment
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its 
tangible and intangible assets regularly to determine 
whether there are indicators of impairment. If any 
such indicators exist, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of 
the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible 
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

A recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is estimated to be less than the 
carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to 
the recoverable amount, and the impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in the income statement.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not 
reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment 
losses recognised in prior years are assessed at each 
reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is 
reversed if there has been a change in

the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount unless it is solely related to the time value 
of money. An impairment loss is reversed only to 
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised.

3.6. Research and exploration expenditure
Pre-exploration costs are recognised in the income 
statement as incurred.

Exploration and evaluation costs (including 
geophysical, topographical, geological and similar 
types of expenditure) are capitalised as exploration 
and evaluation assets on a project-by-project basis 
pending determination of the technical feasibility 
and commercial viability of the project. The technical 
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting 
coal is considered to be determinable when proven 
coal reserves are determined to exist. Expenditure 
deemed to be unsuccessful is recognised 
immediately in the income statement.

3.7. Inventories
Coal. Coal is measured at the lower of production 
cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less the estimated selling expenses.

Production costs include on-mine and processing 
costs, as well as transportation costs to the point of 
sale.

Consumable stores and materials. The cost of 
inventories is based on the weighted average 
principle and includes expenditure incurred in 
acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their 
existing location and condition.
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3.8. Financial instruments
non-derivative financial instruments. Non-derivative 
financial instruments comprise investments in equity 
and debt securities, trade and other receivables, cash 
and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and 
trade and other payables.

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables 
and deposits on the date that they are originated. All 
other financial assets (including assets designated 
at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised 
initially on the trade date at which the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when 
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the 
contractual cash flows on the financial asset in
a transaction in which substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 
are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial 
assets that is created or retained by the Group is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Group has the following categories of non-
derivative financial assets: financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity 
financial assets, loans and receivables and available-
for-sale financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
A financial asset is classified at fair value through 
profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading 
or is designated as such upon initial recognition. 
Financial assets are designated at fair value through 
profit or loss if the Group manages such investments 
and makes purchase and sale decisions based 
on their fair value in accordance with the Group’s 
documented risk management or investment 
strategy. Upon initial recognition attributable 
transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred. Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss are measured at fair value, and changes 
therein are recognised in profit or loss.

Held-to-maturity financial assets. If the Group has 
the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity debt 
securities, then such financial assets are classified 
as held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets 
are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition held-to-maturity financial assets are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment losses. Any sale or 
reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of 
held-to-maturity investments not close to their maturity 
would result in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity 
investments as available-for-sale, and prevent the Group  
from classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity  
for the current and the following two financial years.

Loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets 
are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition loans and receivables are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment losses. Loans and receivables 
comprise trade and other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash balances and call deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand and form an integral 
part of the Group’s cash management are included 
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the statement of cash flows.

Available- for-sale financial assets. Available-for-sale 
financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that  
are designated as available-for-sale and that are not  
classified in any of the previous categories. The Group’s  
investments in equity securities and certain debt 
securities are classified as available-for-sale financial 
assets. Such assets are recognised initially at fair 
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at 
fair value and changes therein, other than impairment 
losses and foreign currency differences on available-
for -sale debt instruments, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and presented within equity 
in the fair value reserve. When an investment is dere-
cognised or impaired, the cumulative gain or loss in other  
comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss.

other non-derivative financial instruments. Other 
non-derivative financial instruments are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment losses. Investments 
in equity securities that are not quoted on a stock 
exchange are principally valued using valuation 
techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis, 
option pricing models and comparisons to other 
transactions and instruments that are substantially 
the same. Where fair value cannot be reliably 
measured, investments are stated at cost less 
impairment losses.

non-derivative financial liabilities. The Group initially 
recognises debt securities issued on the date that 
they are originated. All other financial liabilities 
(including liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade 
date at which the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group 
derecognises a financial liability when its contractual 
obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

The Group has the following non-derivative financial 
liabilities: loans and borrowings, bank overdrafts, 
and trade and other payables. Such financial 
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition these financial liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

Derivative financial instruments. The Group 
has entered into a variety of derivative financial 
instruments to manage its exposure to commodity 
price risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk 
and risk of changes in the price of freight. Derivative 
instruments are not entered into for trading or 
speculative purposes. All derivatives are recognised 
on the balance sheet at fair value.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on 
the date a derivative contract is entered into and 
are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. The 
method of recognising the resulting gain or loss 
depends on whether the derivative is designated as 
a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the 
item being hedged. The Group designates certain 
derivatives as hedges of a highly probable forecast 
transaction (cash flow hedge).

The Group documents, at the inception of the 
transaction, the relationship between the hedging 
instruments and the hedged items, as well as its risk 
management objectives and strategy for undertaking 
various hedging transactions. The Group also 
documents its assessment, both at the inception of 
the hedge and on an ongoing basis, of whether the 
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are 
highly effective in offsetting any changes in cash 
flows of the hedged items.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash 
flow hedges are recognised in equity. The gain or 
loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the 
income statement in the years when the hedged item 
is recognised in the income statement (for example, 
when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place).

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria 
for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in equity at that time 
remains in equity and is recycled to the income 
statement when the forecast transaction is ultimately 
recognised in the income statement. When a forecast 
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 
cumulative gain or loss that was recognised in equity 
is immediately transferred to the income statement.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives not 
designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in 
the income statement.

Impairment of non-derivative financial assets. 
A financial asset not carried at fair value through 
profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any objective evidence 
that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired 
if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, 
and that the loss event had a negative effect on 
the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can 
be estimated reliably.
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Objective evidence that financial assets (including 
equity securities) are impaired can include default or 
delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount 
due to the Group on terms that the Group would 
not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or 
issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the 
payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Group, 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults or 
the disappearance of an active market for a security. 
In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a 
significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below 
its cost is objective evidence of impairment.

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity 
investment securities. The Group considers 
evidence of impairment for loans and receivables 
and held-to-maturity investment securities at both 
a specific asset and collective level. All individually 
significant loans and receivables and held-to-
maturity investment securities are assessed for 
specific impairment. All individually significant loans 
and receivables and held-to-maturity investment 
securities found not to be specifically impaired 
are then collectively assessed for any impairment 
that has been incurred but not yet identified. Loans 
and receivables and held-to-maturity investment 
securities that are not individually significant are 
collectively assessed for impairment by grouping 
together loans and receivables and held-to-
maturity investment securities with similar risk 
characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment the Group uses 
historical trends of the probability of default, timing 
of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, 
adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether 
current economic and credit conditions are such that 
the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than 
suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset 
measured at amortised cost is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount, and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest 
rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and 
reflected in an allowance account against loans and 
receivables or held-to-maturity investment securities. 
Interest on the impaired asset continues to be 
recognised through the unwinding of the discount. 

When a subsequent event causes the amount 
of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in 
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets. Impairment 
losses on available-for-sale financial assets are 
recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated 
in the fair value reserve in equity, to profit or loss. 
The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity 
to profit or loss is the difference between the 
acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and 
amortisation, and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss previously recognised in profit or 
loss. Changes in impairment provisions attributable 
to application of the effective interest method are 
reflected as a component of interest income. If, in 
a subsequent year, the fair value of an impaired 
available-for-sale debt security increases and the 
increase can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised 
in profit or loss, then the impairment loss is reversed, 
with the amount of the reversal recognised in profit 
or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair 
value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security 
is recognised in other comprehensive income.

3.9. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has legal 
or constructive obligations, as a result of a past event 
for which it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 
and the amount of the obligation can be reliably 
estimated.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking 
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

3.10. Employee benefit obligations
Remuneration to employees in respect of services 
rendered during a reporting year is recognised as an 
expense in that reporting year.

Defined contribution plan. The Group contributes 
to the Pension Fund of the Russian Federation, 
a defined contribution pension plan. The only 
obligation of the Group is to make the specified 
contributions in the year in which they arise and 
these contributions are expensed as incurred.

Defined benefit plans. In accordance with current 
legislation and internal documentation the Group 
operates defined benefit plans whereby field workers 
of its coal producing subsidiaries are entitled to a 
lump sum payment. The amount of benefits depends 
on one or more factors such as age, years of service 
and compensation.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in 
respect of defined benefit pension plans is the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
balance sheet date. Actuarial gains and losses are 
recognised directly in equity.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated 
annually by the Group. The Projected Unit Credit 
Method is used to determine the present value of 
defined benefit obligations and the related current 
service cost. The present value of the defined 
benefit obligation is determined by discounting the 
estimated future cash outflows using interest rates 
of government bonds that are denominated in the 
currency in which the benefits will be paid and that 
have terms to maturity approximating the terms of 
the related pension liability.

3.11. treasury shares
Treasury shares are the Company’s own equity 
instruments that are held by the Company or it’s 
subsidiaries.

3.12. Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred 
taxation.

Current tax is the tax payable on the taxable income 
for the year, using tax rates enacted at the balance 
sheet date, and includes any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years. Deferred 
taxation is accounted for using the balance sheet 
liability method in respect of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used in the computation of taxable income.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for 
all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable income will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax is not recognised for the following 
temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets 
or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss. In addition, deferred tax is not 
recognised for taxable temporary differences arising 
on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable 
temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is 
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference, and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, 
tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 
be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred 
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised.
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Changes in the obligation, reassessed regularly, 
related to new circumstances or changes in law 
or technology, or in the estimated amount of the 
obligation, or in the pre-tax discount rates, are 
recognised as an increase or decrease of the cost 
of the relevant asset to the extent of the carrying 
amount of the asset; the excess is recognised 
immediately in the income statement.

Gains from the expected disposal of mining assets at 
the end of the life of mine are not taken into account 
when determining the provision.

3.18. Sale and leaseback transactions
The Group engages in certain transactions which 
meet the criteria for accounting as sale and 
leaseback transactions. Where the transaction 
results in a finance lease, the excess of sales 
proceeds over the carrying value is deferred and 
recognised in the income statement over the term of 
the lease.

3.19. Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use, are added to the cost of those assets, 
until such time as the assets are substantially ready 
for their intended use. All other borrowing costs are 
recognised in the income statement in the year in 
which they are incurred.

3.20. Goodwill
Goodwill arises on acquisitions and is recognised as 
an asset initially measured at cost, being the excess 
of the cost of the business combination over the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of acquiree’s  
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
recognised at the date of acquisition. If the Group’s  
share of the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, after 
reassessment, exceeds the cost of the business 
combination, the excess is recognised immediately 
in the income statement.

The Group elected not to restate past business 
combinations at the date of adoption of IFRS.

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. In respect of equity accounted 
investees, the carrying amount of goodwill is 
included in the carrying amount of the investment. 
Transaction costs incurred in a business 
combination are expensed.

3.15. Dividends declared
Dividends and related taxation thereon are 
recognised as a liability in the year in which they 
have been declared and become legally payable.

Retained earnings legally distributable by the Group 
are based on the amounts available for distribution 
in accordance with the applicable legislation and as 
reflected in the statutory financial statements of the 
individual Group entities. These amounts may differ 
significantly from the amounts recognized in the 
Group’s consolidated IFRS financial statements.

3.16. overburden removal expenditure
In open pit coal mining operations, it is necessary 
to remove the overburden and other waste in order  
to access the economically recoverable coal. 
Stripping costs incurred during the pre-production 
phase of the open pit mine are capitalised as the cost of 
the development of the mining property and amortised 
over the life of mine. Stripping costs incurred during the 
production phase of the open pit mine are treated as 
production costs of the coal extracted during the year.

3.17. Environmental obligation
Environmental obligation includes provision for 
decommissioning and site restoration costs.

Environmental provision is recognised when the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events that existed at the balance 
sheet date:
• to dismantle and remove its items of property, 

plant and equipment (decommissioning); and 
• to restore site damage after the commencement of 

coal production to bring the land into a condition 
suitable for its further use (site restoration). 

Estimated future costs are provided for at the 
present value of estimated future expenditures 
expected to be incurred to settle the obligation, 
using estimated cash flows, based on current prices 
adjusted for the inflation.

The increase in the provision through unwinding 
of the obligation over the life of mine, due to the 
passage of time, is recognised as a finance cost 
in the income statement.

Deferred taxation is calculated at enacted or 
substantively enacted rates that are expected to apply 
to the year when the asset is realised or the liability 
is settled. It is charged or credited to the income 
statement, except when it relates to items credited 
or charged directly to equity or other comprehensive 
income, in which case deferred taxation is also 
recognised in equity or other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

3.13. Revenue recognition
Revenue represents the invoiced value for coal 
supplied to customers, excluding value-added tax, 
and is recognised when all the following conditions 
are satisfied:
• the Group has transferred to the buyer the 

significant risks and rewards of ownership; 
• the Group retains neither continuing managerial 

involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over goods; 

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
• it is probable that the economic benefits 

associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity; and 

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect 
of the transaction can be measured reliably.  
 

3.14. operating lease payments
Lease of assets under which all the risks and 
benefits of ownership are retained by the lessor 
are classified as operating leases. Payments made 
under operating leases are recognised in the income 
statement in the year in which they are due in 
accordance with lease terms.
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• export coal prices for 2013-2016 are projected to 
grow based on consensus forecast of investment 
banks at 5.3% and 5.2% per annum for Asian and 
European markets, respectively, and at 2% per 
annum from 2017 in line with expected long-term 
USD inflation; 

• domestic coal prices for 2013-2016 are projected 
to grow based on long-term coal supply contracts 
in average at 6.2% in Ruble terms and at 5% per 
annum from 2017 in line with expected long-term 
RUB inflation; 

• regulated railroad tariffs were estimated to grow 
in line with Russian CPI inflation at 5.0-7.1% per 
annum; 

• the cash flow forecasts were discounted to their 
present value at the nominal weighted average 
cost of capital of 15.2% for mining units and 
11.2% for port units in Ruble terms. 

As a result of the testing no impairment loss was 
recognised.

An increase of one percentage point in the discount 
rate would have caused recognition of impairment loss 
of USD 43 million. A decrease of one percentage point 
in the revenue of all cash generating units would have 
caused recognition of impairment loss of USD 53 million.

Coal reserve estimates. Coal reserve estimates are 
used as the basis for future cash flows, which enter into 
determination of impairment, provision for environmental 
obligations, calculations of amortisation and depreciation  
of mining assets, unwinding of discount on 
environmental obligation and the related deferred taxes.

The coal reserve estimates represent the quantity 
of coal expected to be mined, processed and sold 
at prices at least sufficient to recover the estimated 
total costs, the carrying value of the investment and 
anticipated additional expenditures (“proven and 
probable coal reserves” in the international miners’ 
experts’ terminology). The estimates are based on 
several assumptions as to physical existence of 
coal reserves, future mining and recovery factors, 
production costs and coal prices and have been 
calculated using the assessment of available 
exploration and other data. The Group undertakes 
regular revisions of the coal reserve estimates that 
are confirmed by independent consulting mining 
engineers.

Although management’s long-term mine plans exceed 
the remaining useful life of some of the mining licenses 
of the Group, the Group has a legal right to apply for the 
extension of the licenses for its existing mining resources 
and therefore management is confident that the licenses 
will be extended provided that it is the same coal resource 
within the original mining license and that certain other 
conditions are met. Extensions to new seams or adjacent 
areas are subject to open auctions. Delay or failure in 
securing relevant government approvals or licences, 
as well as any adverse change in government policies, 
may cause a significant adjustment to development and 
acquisition plans, which may have a material adverse 
effect on the Group’s financial position and performance.

Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments. 
Management uses its judgement in selecting an 
appropriate valuation technique for financial instruments 
not quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques 
commonly used by market practitioners are applied. 
For derivative financial instruments, assumptions are 
made based on quoted market rates adjusted for the 
specific features of the instrument. Thus the method 
of determination of the fair value of derivative financial 
instruments is based on adjusting directly observable 
inputs. Quoted available-for-sale securities are 
measured at the fair value by reference to the quotation 
in the Russian Trading System (RTS). This method of 
determination of the fair value uses quoted unadjusted 
prices in an active market for identical assets. Other 
financial instruments are valued using a discounted cash 
flow analysis based on assumptions supported, where 
possible, by observable market prices or rates. Details 
of the assumptions used and of the results of sensitivity 
analyses regarding these assumptions are provided in 
note 16 and 29.

5. SEGMEntAL InFoRMAtIon 

The Group evaluates performance and makes 
investment and strategic decisions based upon a 
review of the profitability of the Group as a whole, and 
based on operating segments. An operating segment 
is a component of the Group that engages in business 
activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses and whose operating results are regularly 
reviewed by management. 

In previous years, operating segments included thermal 
coal, coking coal and power segments. During 2012 
management changed the presentation of management 
information in order to make it more relevant and broke 
down the thermal coal segment into hard coal, brown 
coal and ports and logistics segments. The comparative 
information has been amended accordingly. 

Hard coal, coking coal and brown coal segments 
represent operations of coal mining companies including 
extraction, washing and sales of respective coal; the ports 
and logistics segment includes railroad transportation 
assets, port units and equity investment in LLC 
“Stividornaya Kompaniya Malyi Port”; power segment 
represents operations of power generating companies 
including the generation and sales of power as well 
as equity and other investments in power generating 
companies. Most of power segment’ assets were de-
merged from the Group in April 2011 (see note 32). 

4. CRItICAL ACCoUntInG JUDGEMEntS  
AnD EStIMAtES 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies management has made the following principal 
judgements and estimates that have a significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Determination of recoverable amount of property, plant 
and equipment. The majority of  the Group’s property, 
plant and equipment is specialised in nature and is 
rarely sold on the open market other than as part of a 
continuing business. The market for similar property, 
plant and equipment is not active in the Russian 
Federation and does not provide a sufficient number of 
sales transactions for use of a market-based approach 
for determination of the fair value. 

Therefore the value in use for property, plant and 
equipment as at 31 December 2012 was determined 
using projected cash flows. This method considers the 
future net cash flows expected to be generated through 
the usage of property, plant and equipment in the 
process of operating activities up to its ultimate disposal 
to determine the recoverable amount of the assets. 

Each cash-generating unit determined by the Group 
based on the location of the mines or port units is the 
smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash 
inflows that are independent of the cash inflows from 
other groups of assets. 

The following key assumptions were used in determining the 
recoverable amounts of each of the cash-generating units:
• cash flows were projected based on actual 

operating results and life-of-mine models 
constructed for every cash-generating unit; 

• coal production volumes were projected based 
on recoverable reserves previously confirmed by 
independent consulting mining engineers; 

• domestic coal sales volumes were estimated to 
grow at an average rate of 2.6% per annum in 
2013-2017 based on expectations of new power 
capacity being commissioned; 

• export coal sales volumes were estimated to grow 
at an average rate of 0.2% per annum in 2013-
2017 based on projected production volumes of 
export-grade coal and the available throughput of 
transports infrastructure; 
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Business segment information of the Group at 31 December 2012  
and for the year then ended is as follows:

Hard coal Brown coal Coking coal Ports and 
logistics Power Intersegment 

elimination total

Segment revenue  
and profitability
Segment external revenues 5,203 420 1 11 — — 5,635

Inter-segment revenues 320 356 5 210 — (891) —

Segment expenses (4,566) (557) (22) (114) — 891 (4,368)

Gross profit/(loss) 957 219 (16) 107 — — 1,267

Share of profit of associates — — — 7 2 — 9

Amortisation and depreciation (316) (39) (1) (28) — — (384)

Interest expense (130) (3) (2) (19) — 29 (125)

Interest income 51 6 — — — (29) 28

Profit/(loss) before tax 833 249 (17) 89 — — 1,154

Income tax expense/(benefit) (131) (43) 14 (27) — — (187)

Profit/(loss) for the year 702 206 (3) 62 — — 967

Capital expenditures incurred 
during the year 756 72 49 61 — — 938

Segment assets  
and liabilities

Investments in associates — — — 46 14 — 60

other segment assets 4,270 1,314 322 708 310 (844) 6,080

total segment assets 4,270 1,314 322 754 324 (844) 6,140

total segment liabilities 4,537 299 72 342 193 (844) 4,599

Business segment information of the Group at 31 December 2011  
and for the year then ended is as follows:

Hard coal Brown coal Coking coal Ports and 
logistics Power Intersegment 

elimination total

Segment revenue  
and profitability
Segment external revenues 5,452 10 — 11 725 — 6,198

Inter-segment revenues 341 523 — 148 7 (1,019) —

Segment expenses (4,508) (375) — (101) (689) 1,019 (4,654)

Gross profit 1,285 158 — 58 43 — 1,544

Share of profit of associates — — — 1 3 — 4

Amortisation, depreciation 
and impairment (283) (47) — (28) (61) — (419)

Interest expense (157) (2) — (28) — 38 (149)

Interest income 47 7 — — 2 (38) 18

Profit before tax 875 160 — 31 45 — 1,111

Income tax expense (237) (23) — (12) (17) — (289)

Profit for the year 638 137 — 19 28 — 822

Capital expenditures incurred 551 25 263 17 83 —

during the year 939

Segment assets  
and liabilities

Investments in associates — — — 37 11 — 48

other segment assets 3,453 1,138 243 328 344 (741) 4,765

total segment assets 3,453 1,138 243 365 355 (741) 4,813

total segment liabilities 4,268 221 53 303 198 (741) 4,302
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6. REVEnUE 2012 2011

Coal sales 5,523 5,539

Pacific region 2,229 2,150

Atlantic region 1,691 1,700

Russian Federation 1,603 1,689

other 112 144

total 5,635 5,683

7. CoSt oF SALES   

transportation 2,155 1,954

Labour 555 523

Consumables and spares 418 339

Amortisation and depreciation 384 351

Coal purchased from third parties 238 391

Repair and maintenance services 152 153

Purchased power 88 94

tax on mining 46 58

Fire and rescue brigades expenses 31 32

Property tax 30 27

Land rent 27 33

other 244 227

total 4,368 4,182

8. SELLInG, GEnERAL AnD ADMInIStRAtIVE EXPEnSES   

Salaries 73 98

Charitable donations 20 23

Consulting, legal, audit and other professional services 20 35

office rent 12 11

Customs duties 5 5

other 8 12

total 138 184

9. otHER EXPEnSE/(InCoME), nEt 2012 2011

Bad debt expense/(reversal) 2 (8)

Gain from disposal of property, plant and equipment (2) (1)

Penalty expense 2 13

other 15 (10)

total 17 (6)

10. FInAnCE CoStS   

Interest expense 125 149

Bank commissions and charges 33 31

Unwinding of discount on environmental obligation 8 7

Change in fair value of derivatives, other than hedging (see note 16) 6 51

Interest income (28) (18)

total 144 220
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11. PRoPERtY, PLAnt AnD EQUIPMEnt

Mineral rights
Buildings, 

structures and 
utilities

Machinery, 
equipment, transport 

and other
Construction-in-

progress total

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2011 1,047 2,858 2,464 527 6,896

Additions 274 — — 665 939

transfers — 111 433 (544) —

Disposals — (2) (16) (7) (25)

Discontinued operations — (2,259) (836) (494) (3,589)

Effect of translation to presentation currency (80) 167 (47) 35 75

Balance at 31 December 2011 1,241 875 1,998 182 4,296

Additions 18 — — 920 938

Consolidation of MMtP — 19 79 2 100

transfers 3 125 401 (529) —

Disposals — (4) (41) — (45)

Effect of translation to presentation currency 75 56 126 20 277

Balance at 31 December 2012 1,337 1,071 2,563 595 5,566

Accumulated amortisation and depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2011 178 429 872 — 1,479

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment 35 89 290 5 419

Disposals — (2) (13) — (15)

Discontinued operations — (400) (237) — (637)

Effect of translation to presentation currency (13) 28 (36) — (21)

Balance at 31 December 2011 200 144 876 5 1,225

Amortisation and depreciation 34 73 286 — 393

Disposals — (2) (36) — (38)

Effect of translation to presentation currency 13 10 58 — 81

Balance at 31 December 2012 247 225 1,184 5 1,661

net book value at 31 December 2011 1,041 731 1,122 177 3,071

net book value at 31 December 2012 1,090 846 1,379 590 3,905

Group assets with a net book value of USD 50 million have been pledged as security for borrowings 
(31 December 2011 – USD 25 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2012 borrowing costs of USD 5 million were capitalized into Group assets 
(31 December 2011 – USD 4 million).

Group assets include advances issued for capital expenditures of USD 86 million  
(31 December 2011 – USD 145 million).

12. InVEStMEnt In ASSoCIAtES 2012 2011

opening balance 48 46

Share of profit of associates 9 4

Additions 109 —

Consolidation of oJSC “MMtP” (109) —

Effect of translation to presentation currency 3 (2)

Closing balance 60 48

Acquisition of oJSC “Murmanskiy Morskoi torgovyi Port” (“MMtP”). In February 2012, the Group acquired 
24.9% of MMTP for USD 106 million from a third party. In December 2012, SUEK acquired an additional 25% 
of MMTP and increased its voting share to 49.9%. In accordance with IAS 27 “Consolidated and separate 
financial statements” MMTP was consolidated on 31 December 2012 (see note 31).

Details of the Group’s investment in associates are as follows:

name of associate
% held Carrying value

2012 2011 2012 2011

LLC “Stividornaya Kompaniya Malyi port” 49.9% 49.9% 43 4

oJSC “Kuzbass power sales company” 25% 25% 14 11

other 3 —

total 60 48

The following is a summary of information on the Group’s investments in associates:

name of associate

2012 2011

total amount 
of associates Group’s share total amount 

of associates Group’s share

total assets 116 32 89 24

total liabilities 45 12 38 11

Revenue for the year 630 160 530 135

Profit for the year 29 9 16 4

13. InVEntoRIES 2012 2011

Coal stock 310 231

Consumable stores and materials 171 144

Less: Allowance for obsolescence 19 11

net consumable stores and materials 152 133

total 462 364
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14. tRADE ACCoUntS AnD otHER RECEIVABLES 2012 2011

trade accounts receivable 456 342

Loans issued to related parties 256 146

Advances issued 97 119

other receivables 62 35

Subtotal 871 642

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts 22 17

total 849 625

Loan issued to related parties. In August 2011 and July 2012, SUEK issued a USD 143 million loan and 
USD 57 million loan to the parent company of DONALINK. The loans bear interest at 4.5% and are repayable in 
June 2013. In March 2012, SUEK issued a USD 42 million loan to DONALINK. The loan bears interest at 4.5% 
and is repayable in March 2013.

15. PREPAID AnD RECoVERABLE tAXES   

Value added tax recoverable 152 147

Income tax receivable 78 50

Prepaid other taxes 1 7

total 231 204

16. DERIVAtIVE FInAnCIAL InStRUMEntS

 

2012 2011

Derivative
assets

Derivative  
liabilities

Derivative
assets

Derivative  
liabilities

option agreements for shares of power companies — 193 — 194

Coal swaps 8 — 20 —

Freight swaps — 16 — 12

Forward exchange contracts — — — 32

option agreement for shares of oJSC “DEC” — — — 4

other derivatives 3 — 5 —

total 11 209 25 242

Derivative financial instruments were valued using observable inputs, which correspond to level 2 of the 
hierarchy of the fair value measurements. Details of the effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow 
hedges were as follows:

 

2012 2011

Gain recognised 
in comprehensive 

income

Gain recycled from 
comprehensive 

income to the profit 
and loss

Gain recognised 
in comprehensive 

income

Gain recycled from 
comprehensive 

income to the profit 
and loss

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash 
flow hedges 46 (29) (3) 57

Deferred tax (6) 1 4 (6)

total 40 (28) 1 51

option agreements for shares of power companies. At 31 December 2011, SUEK held put-call option 
agreements with third parties to acquire 13.79% of OJSC “Kuzbassenergo” (“Kuzbassenergo”) and 10.09% of 
OJSC “Enisei territorial generation company” (TGC-13).

In April 2012, certain assets of Kuzbassenergo and TGC-13 were spun off into separate legal entities under 
the control of Sibenergy Investments Limited, an entity under common control. As a result of the spin-off, the 
option agreements were amended to put-call option agreements enabling SUEK to acquire all of the following: 
13.79% in Kuzbassenergo, OJSC “Kuznetskaya TETS”, OJSC “Barnaulskaya TETS-3”, OJSC “Barnaulskaya 
Generation”, OJSC “Kemerovskaya Generation”, OJSC “Novo-Kemerovskaya TETS” and 10.09% in TGC-13, 
OJSC “Krasnoyarskaya Heat Transportation Company”, OJSC “Nazarovskaya GRES”, OJSC “Krasnoyarskaya 
TETS-1”. The total aggregated exercise price of the put-call option agreements with the third parties remained 
unchanged and amounts to USD 292 million.

In June 2012 SUEK signed a number of put -call option agreements for the same pool of shares with Sibenergy 
Investments Limited for the total exercise price of USD 89 million at that date.

Both the put-call option agreements with third parties and those with Sibenergy Investments Limited have been 
valued at 31 December 2012 at fair value. The following key assumptions were applied in determination of the 
fair value of the options: сontractual time to expiry from 1 to 7 months, risk-free rate of 1.78%.

The fair value of the underlying quoted securities (Kuzbassenergo) was determined by reference to the 
quotations on MICEX, whereas the fair value of the underlying unquoted securities was determined by 
reference to the valuation model, after adjusting the present value of the cash flows for the lack of marketability 
and control.

At the date when these financial statements were signed off none of the options held as at 31 December 2012 
had been executed. The Group expects that both types of option agreements will be exercised simultaneously.

Forward exchange contracts. The average strike exchange rate under the forward exchange contracts at 
31 December 2011 was 29.21 RUB per 1 USD.



130 131

 SUEK PLC   Annual Report 2012     notes to the Consolidated Financial Report

Coal swaps. The Group uses coal swaps to hedge the coal price index used in index price coal sales contracts. 
Details of the coal swaps and collar options designated as cash flow hedges were as follows:

 

2012 2011

Volume
(‘000 tonnes) Derivative assets Volume

(‘000 tonnes) Derivative assets

0– 3 months 2,160 6 585 8

3– 6 months 750 1 375 4

6– 9 months 285 1 375 4

9– 12 months 45 — 375 4

total 3,240 8 1,710 20

The average coal price under the coal swaps was USD 94/t (31 December 2011 – USD 123/t).

Freight swaps. The Group uses freight swaps to hedge the time-charter equivalent index used in determining 
the price of freight. At 31 December 2012, the notional amount of the hedged facilities amounted to 
2,244 freight days (31 December 2011 – 3,437 freight days).

option agreement for shares of oJSC “DEC”. At 31 December 2011, DONALINK held an option agreement 
to buy 7.1% shares of OJSC “DEC” (“DEC”) owned by the Group. The option was recognized as a financial  
liability at fair value through profit or loss. The market for the derivative was not active, therefore the Group 
measured fair value using the Black–Scholes Model.

In March 2012, the Group sold to DONALINK 7.1% of DEC for USD 42 million, which was accounted for as 
other assets as at 31 December 2011. This transaction resulted in a gain of USD 28 million.

17. CASH AnD CASH EQUIVALEntS 2012 2011

Current accounts - foreign currency 74 35

- RUB 29 22

other cash and cash equivalents - RUB 17 38

- foreign currency 16 9

Restricted cash under coal swaps - foreign currency 22 14

total 158 118

18. SHARE CAPItAL AnD RESERVES

 
number of shares, in thousands

2012 2011 2012 2011

Authorised share capital 
ordinary shares 550,000 550,000 — —

Issued share capital 
ordinary shares 410,000 410,000 — —

total 410,000 410,000 — —

Ordinary shares have a par value of 0.0005 USD. All issued shares were fully paid. 

Issued capital. In April 2011, the Company issued 205 million ordinary shares with a nominal value of 0.0005 
USD per share for a total consideration of 0.1 million USD. In May 2011, the Company issued 205 million 
ordinary shares with a nominal value of 0.0005 USD per share for consideration of USD 7,151 million.

Dividends. In December 2011, the Company paid dividends of USD 393 million for nine months ended 
30 September 2011 (USD 0.9594 per ordinary share). No dividends were declared by the Company for 
the year ended 31 December 2012.

19. EARnInGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year. Basic and diluted earnings per share are the same, as there is no dilution
effect.
 2012 2011

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (in thousands) 410,000 410,000

Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to ordinary
shareholders of the parent 927 757

Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
(in USD) 2.26 1.85

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (in thousands) 410,000 410,000

Profit for the year from discontinued operations attributable to ordinary
shareholders of the parent — 25

Basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations
(in USD) — 0.06
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20. BoRRoWInGS
Effective interest rate 2012 2011

Long-term borrowings
Variable rate borrowings 2,870 2,566
US dollar denominated borrowings Six month LIBoR + 1.05% to one month  

LIBoR + 3.7% 2,642 2,406

Euro denominated borrowings Six month EURIBoR + 0.7%
to one month EURIBoR + 3.25% 228 160

Fixed rate borrowings 350 326

RUB denominated bonds 9.35% 344 325

other borrowings 6 1

Subtotal 3,220 2,892

Less: Current portion of long-term borrowings 660 241

total long-term borrowings 2,560 2,651

Short-term borrowings

USD denominated variable rate borrowings three month LIBoR + 1.5% to three month 
LIBoR + 2.5% 78 45

USD denominated fixed rate borrowings — 20

Subtotal 78 65

Current portion of long-term borrowings 660 241

total short-term borrowings 738 306

The Group’s long-term borrowings have restrictive covenants including, but not limited to, the requirement to 
maintain minimum ratios associated with the following items:
• consolidated net indebtedness to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”); and 
• EBITDA to consolidated interest expense. 

The covenants are calculated based on the IFRS financial statements of the Group on a semi-annual basis. 
The Group was in compliance with all such covenants.

The Group’s short-term borrowings are secured by export sales and related receivables.

21. otHER LonG-tERM LIABILItIES 2012 2011

Provision for environmental obligation 76 63

Provision for defined benefit obligation 77 58

other long-term liabilities (see note 31) 46

total 199 121

Provision for environmental obligation. The extent and cost of future site restoration programmes are inherently 
difficult to estimate and depend on the estimated lives of the mines, the scale of any possible disturbance and 
contamination as well as the timing and extent of corrective actions.

The following is a summary of the key assumptions on which the discounted carrying amounts of the 
obligations are based:
Discount rate 8% 9%

Inflation rate 6% 6%

Provision for defined benefit obligation. Actuarial assumptions used for the calculation of the defined benefit 
obligation were as follows:
Discount rate 8% 9%

Inflation rate 6% 6%

Future increases of salaries 6% 6%

22. tRADE ACCoUntS AnD otHER PAYABLES

trade accounts payable and accruals 172 144

Advances from customers 176 145

Accrual for vacation payments 56 42

Wages and salaries 55 35

Payable for long-term investments 12 246

other creditors 82 79

total 553 691

option agreements for shares in subsidiaries. In October 2011, SUEK entered into a number of put and call 
option agreements with third parties to acquire 10% of OJSC “SUEK-Krasnoyarsk” (“SUEK-Krasnoyarsk”), 
10% of OJSC “SUEK-Kuzbass” (“SUEK-Kuzbass”) and 10% of

OJSC “Primorskugol” (“Primorskugol”). Since third parties have the right to sell non-controlling interests to the 
SUEK, these options were recognised as a decrease of non-controlling interests as if they had been exercised, 
and a respective liability at the exercise price of USD 246 million.

In April and May 2012, the put and call option agreements for 10% of SUEK-Kuzbass and 10% of SUEK-
Krasnoyarsk were terminated (see note 30).

At the date when these financial statements were signed off options for 10% of Primorskugol held as at 
31 December 2012 had not been executed.
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23. tAXES PAYABLE 2012 2011

Value added tax 23 39

Income tax 27 11

Unified social tax 13 10

other 12 13

total 75 73

24. tAXAtIon
A reconciliation of theoretical income tax, calculated at the rate effective in the Russian Federation, the primary 
location of the Group’s production entities, to the amount of actual income tax expense recorded in the 
statement of comprehensive income is as follows: 

Profit before tax 1,154 1,066

theoretical income tax expense at 20% 230 213

Impact of specific tax rates (41) (8)

Change in estimates (25) 20

tax effect of other non-deductible expenses 23 24

tax on dividends — 23

total income tax expense 187 272

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred taxation are presented below:

opening  
balance

Recognised  
in equity

Recognised in the 
income statement

Effect of 
translation to 
presentation 

currency
Closing balance

2012
Deferred tax assets 70 (5) (1) 3 67

tax losses carried forward 22 — (14) 1 9

Derivative financial liabilities 5 (5) 1 — 1

Prepaid expenses and accruals 11 — 4 1 16

Employee benefit obligations 11 — 3 1 15

Environmental and other provisions 18 — 3 — 21

trade accounts and other receivables 3 — 2 — 5

Deferred tax liabilities (275) — (25) (7) (307)

Property, plant and equipment (257) — (1) (7) (265)

Investments in associates (7) — (1) — (8)

Inventory (5) — (15) — (20)

other (6) — (8) — (14)

net deferred tax liabilities (205) (5) (26) (4) (240)

opening  
balance

Recognised  
in equity

Recognised 
in the income 

statement

De-merge 
of power  
business

Effect of 
translation to 
presentation 

currency

Closing 
balance

2011
Deferred tax assets 124 — (33) (21) — 70

tax losses carried forward 48 2 (24) (5) 1 22

Derivative financial liabilities 9 (2) (1) — (1) 5

Prepaid expenses and accruals 30 — (17) (3) 1 11

Employee benefit obligations 10 — 6 (5) — 11

Environmental and other provisions 21 — 3 (5) (1) 18

trade accounts and other receivables 6 — — (3) — 3

Deferred tax liabilities (600) (1) (9) 339 (4) (275)

Property, plant and equipment (593) — 4 337 (5) (257)

Investments in associates (3) — (4) — — (7)

other (4) (1) (9) 2 1 (11)

net deferred tax liabilities (476) (1) (42) 318 (4) (205)

Unrecognised temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries where the Group is able to control 
the timing of the reversal and distribution of dividends on a tax free basis when certain conditions are met and 
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future amounted to USD 1,775 
million (31 December 2011 – USD 1,046 million).

Tax losses carried forward existing as at 31 December 2012 expire within 10 years from the balance sheet date.

For disclosure purposes certain deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset in accordance with the accounting policy.

 2012 2011

Deferred tax assets 25 13

Deferred tax liabilities (265) (218)

net deferred tax liabilities (240) (205)

25. RELAtED PARtIES tRAnSACtIonS 

Related parties are considered to include the ultimate beneficiaries, affiliates and entities under common ownership 
and control within the Group. The Company and its subsidiaries, in the ordinary course of their business, enter into 
various sales, purchases and service transactions with related parties. Transactions with related parties are 
not always performed under conditions that would be available for parties not related to the Group. 
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Transactions with related parties not dealt with elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

 2012 2011

Revenue from Kuzbassenergo and tGC-13 674 578

Revenue from associates of DonALInK 211 259

Interest income (see notes 14, 32) 24 13

Sale of accounting and It services 8 14

transhipment services rendered by associates 55 8

Purchases of electricity 9 15

Interest expense — 4

other purchases 17 12

the remuneration of the Board of Directors  
and the Management Board members was as follows:

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 7 12

the outstanding balances with related parties are as follows:

Long-term receivables from Siberian Energy Investments Limited 300 300

other loans issued to related parties (see note 14) 256 146

trade accounts and other receivables from Kuzbassenergo and tGC-13 90 67

trade accounts and other receivables from associates of DonALInK 53 34

26. CoMMItMEntS

Capital commitments. Management has approved the following capital expenditures:
Contracted 96 147

not yet contracted 510 254

total 606 401

operating leases. The land in the Russian Federation on which the Group’s production facilities are located 
is mostly owned by the State. The Group leases land through operating lease agreements with the State. 
Payments by the Group are based on the total area and location of the land occupied. Operating lease 
agreements expire in various years through to 2052. Future minimum lease payments due under non-
cancellable operating land rent lease agreements are:

Due in one year 26 22

Due in the second year 9 11

Due from three to five years 15 11

Due thereafter 34 26

total 84 70

Social commitments. The Group contributes to mandatory and voluntary social programmes and maintains 
social sphere assets in the locations where it has its main operating facilities. The Group’s social sphere assets,  
as well as local social programmes, benefit the community at large and are not normally restricted to the Group’s 
employees. Contributions are expensed in the year during which they are incurred.

27. ContInGEnCIES 

Insurance. The insurance industry in the Russian Federation is in the process of development, and some 
forms of insurance protection common in developed markets are not yet available at commercially acceptable 
terms. The Group has limited coverage for its mining, processing, transportation and power generating facilities 
for business interruption or for third party liabilities in respect of property or environmental damage arising from 
accidents on the Group’s property or relating to the Group’s operations. Management understands that until the 
Group obtains adequate insurance coverage there is a risk that the loss or destruction of certain operating assets 
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations and financial position. 

Litigation. The Group has a number of small claims and litigation relating to regular business activities and 
small fiscal claims. Management believes that none of these claims, individually or in aggregate, will have 
a material adverse impact on the Group. 

taxation contingencies in the Russian Federation. Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to 
varying interpretations, and changes, which can occur frequently. Management’s interpretation of such legislation 
as applied to the transactions and activities of the Group may be challenged by the relevant regional and federal 
authorities. Recent events within the Russian Federation suggest that the tax authorities are taking a more assertive 
position in their interpretation of the legislation and assessments and as a result, it is possible that transactions 
and activities that have not been challenged in the past may be challenged. It is therefore possible that significant 
additional taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed. Fiscal years remain open to review by the authorities in 
respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding the year of review. Under certain circumstances reviews may 
cover longer years. 
Management believes that it has paid or accrued all taxes that are applicable. Where uncertainty exists, the 
Group has accrued tax liabilities based on management’s best estimate of the probable outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits, which will be required to settle such liabilities. 

Management believes that it has provided adequately for all tax liabilities based on its interpretation of the tax  
legislation. However, the relevant authorities may have differing interpretations, and the effect could be significant. 

Environmental matters. The Group is subject to extensive federal, state and local environmental controls 
and regulations in the regions in which it operates. The Group’s operations involve disturbance of land, 
discharge of materials and contaminants into the environment, potential impact to flora and fauna, and other 
environmental concerns. 

The Group’s management believes that it is in compliance with all current existing health, safety and 
environmental laws and regulations in the regions in which it operates. However, changes in environmental 
regulations are currently under consideration in the Russian Federation. The Group is continually evaluating 
its obligations relating to new and changing legislation. The Group is unable to predict the timing or extent 
to which environmental laws and regulations may change. Such change, if it occurs, may require the Group 
to modernise technology and incur future additional material costs to meet more stringent standards. 
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Russian Federation risk. The Group’s operations are primarily located in the Russian Federation. Consequently, 
the Group is exposed to the economic and financial markets of the Russian Federation which display 
characteristics of an emerging market. The legal, tax and regulatory frameworks continue to develop, but are 
subject to varying interpretations and frequent changes which together with other legal and fiscal impediments 
contribute to the challenges faced by entities operating in the Russian Federation. The consolidated financial 
statements reflect management’s assessment of the impact of the Russian business environment on 
the operations and the financial position of the Group. The future business environment may differ from 
management’s assessment.

28. FInAnCIAL RISK MAnAGEMEnt   

In the normal course of its operations, the Group is exposed to market (including foreign currency and 
interest rate), credit and liquidity risks. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. 

Risk management is carried out through regular meetings of the risk committee and by the central treasury 
department under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors provides principles for 
overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign currency risk, interest rate 
risk and the use of derivative and non-derivative financial instruments. 

28.1. Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
equity prices will negatively impact the Group’s results or the value of its holding of financial instruments. 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return on risk. Market risk management includes the analysis of foreign 
currency and interest rate risks.

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the financial results of the Group will be adversely impacted by changes in 
exchange rates to which the Group is exposed.

A significant portion of the Group’s revenues are denominated in USD, whereas the majority of the Group’s 
expenditures are denominated in RUB, accordingly, operating profits may be adversely impacted by the 
appreciation of the RUB against the USD. The risk of negative fluctuations in the USD/RUB exchange rate for 
the future revenue streams is naturally hedged by USD loan portfolio.

The Group has the following foreign-currency denominated financial assets and liabilities:

 
2012 2011

USD other1 total USD other1 total

non-current assets 300 — 300 300 — 300

Long-term receivables 300 — 300 300 — 300

Current assets 546 50 596 357 82 439

Loans issued 252 — 252 146 — 146

trade accounts receivable 198 23 221 135 80 215

Derivative financial assets 11 — 11 20 — 20

Cash and cash equivalents 85 27 112 56 2 58

non-current liabilities (2,040) (190) (2,230) (2,202) (137) (2,339)

Long-term borrowings (2,040) (190) (2,230) (2,202) (137) (2,339)

Current liabilities (919) (118) (1,037) (800) (60) (860)

Short-term borrowings (684) (40) (724) (269) (24) (293)

Derivative financial liabilities (209) — (209) (238) — (238)

trade accounts payable and

accruals (14) (22) (36) (47) — (47)

Payable for long-term

investments (12) — (12) (246) — (246)

other creditors — (56) (56) (36) (36)

total net liabilities (2,113) (258) (2,371) (2,345) (115) (2,460)

A 10% increase/decrease in foreign exchange rates at the reporting date would have decreased/increased 
equity and profit for the year by the following:

 
2012 2011

USD other1 total USD other1 total

Equity 211 26 237 235 12 247

Profit for the year 211 26 237 233 12 245

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

1 Other currencies include mainly EUR, Swiss francs (“CHF”) and UK pounds sterling (“GBP”).
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Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely impact the financial results of the 
Group.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from long-term borrowings. The Group’s borrowings at variable 
interest rates are primarily denominated in USD. Borrowings at variable interest rates expose the Group to a 
cash flow interest rate risk. The Group monitors the risk and, if necessary, manages its exposure by entering 
into variable-to-fixed interest rate swaps. Such interest rate swaps have the economic effect of converting 
borrowings from variable interest rates to fixed interest rates.

The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments is as follows:

 2012 2011

Fixed rate instruments

Long-term receivables 300 300

Short-term loans issued 261 151

Cash deposits 33 47

Long-term borrowings (350) (330)

Short-term borrowings — (43)

Variable rate instruments

Long-term borrowings (2,210) (2,321)

Short-term borrowings (738) (263)

Derivative financial liabilities (193) (194)

other long-term liabilities (46) —

total net liabilities (2,943) (2,653)

At 31 December 2012, the Group’s risk policy does not provide for any interest risk hedging.

28.2. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty may default or not meet its obligations to the Group on a timely 
basis, leading to a financial loss to the Group. The Group minimises its exposure to this risk by ensuring that 
credit risk is spread across a number of counterparties. Trade receivables comprise international companies 
and large Russian companies, and credit is only extended to these customers after rigid credit approval 
procedures.

At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the balance sheet.

The Group is not dependent on a limited number of customers. The Group’s top 20 trade debtors are 
presented below:

 number of 
customers

2012 2011

trade accounts 
receivable % trade accounts 

receivable %

Largest customer 1 55 12 42 12

next 9 largest customers 9 216 47 143 42

Subtotal 10 271 59 185 54

next 10 largest customers 10 67 15 63 18

Subtotal 20 338 74 248 72

Remaining customers not specified by number 118 26 94 28

total 456 100 342 100

The table below analyses the Group’s trade receivables into relevant groupings based on the year of them 
being considered past due.

 

2012 2011

Gross Allowance for 
doubtful debts Gross Allowance for 

doubtful debts

not past due 450 — 336 —

Past due for less than 3 months — — — —

Past due for 3 to 6 months 2 — — —

Past due for 6 to 12 months 1 1 — —

Past due for more than one year 3 3 6 6

total 456 4 342 6

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts in respect of trade receivables during the year was as 
follows:

 2012 2011

opening balance 6 89

Additional doubtful debts 9 8

Bad debt written-off (impairment loss recognised) (2) (6)

Bad debt recovered (9) (1)

Discontinued operations — (93)

Effect of translation to presentation currency — 9

Closing balance 4 6



 SUEK PLC   Annual Report 2012

142 143

    notes to the Consolidated Financial Report

28.3. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle all liabilities as they fall due.

During 2012 and 2011 global and Russian capital markets experienced significant volatility, including a lack 
of available sources of financing and significant fluctuation of Russian Ruble against the USD and the Euro. 
Despite stabilisation measures undertaken by various governments, markets remain volatile.

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding from 
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The Group 
expects that cash generated from operations will be the major source of the Group’s liquidity in 2013 and will 
be sufficient to cover the capital expenditures program of the Group. In addition, management believes that 
the Company will be able to attract additional sources of financing in order to re-finance the existing short-
term facilities.

The central treasury department of the Group maintains flexibility in funding by ensuring the availability of 
credit lines facilities. The unused portion of these lines at 31 December 2012 totalled USD 3,108 million 
(31 December 2011 – USD 2,335 million).

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into 
relevant maturity groupings based on the contractual undiscounted cash flows to maturity, including interest 
payments.

Carrying
amount

Contractual  
cash flows

Due in the  
first year

Due in the  
second year

Due 
thereafter

Balance at 31 December 2012

Long-term borrowings 2,560 3,207 125 892 2,190

Short-term borrowings 738 738 738 — —

net-settled derivative liabilities 209 209 209 — —

trade accounts payable and accruals 172 172 172 — —

Payable for long-term investments 12 12 12 — —

other creditors 82 82 82 — —

total 3,773 4,420 1,338 892 2,190

Balance at 31 December 2011

Long-term borrowings 2,651 3,247 107 651 2,489

Short-term borrowings 306 306 306 — —

net-settled derivative liabilities 242 242 242 — —

trade accounts payable and accruals 144 144 144 — —

Payable for long-term investments 246 246 246 — —

other creditors 79 79 79 — —

total 3,668 4,264 1,124 651 2,489

28.4. Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns to equity holders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group defines capital as shareholders’ equity. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group  
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity holders, return capital to equity holders or issue new shares.  
The Group’s overall strategy for 2013 remained unchanged from prior years.

29. FAIR VALUE oF FInAnCIAL InStRUMEntS 

The fair value of financial instruments is determined with reference to various market information and other 
valuation methods as considered appropriate. At 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, the fair values of 
financial instruments held by the Group, where determinable, did not materially differ from the carrying values. 
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30. InVEStMEntS In ConSoLIDAtED EntItIES
 Entities by country of incorporation Principal activity 2012 2011

Russian Federation
oJSC “SUEK” Holding company 100% 100%

Murmansk
oJSC “Murmanskiy Morskoi torgovyi Port” Port facilities 49.9% —

Kemerovo
oJSC “SUEK-Kuzbass” Hard coal extraction 100% 89%

Krasnoyarsk
oJSC “SUEK-Krasnoyarsk” Brown coal extraction 100% 88%

Khakasiya
LLC “SUEK-Khakasya” Hard coal extraction 100% 100%

LLC “Vostochno-Beyskiy razrez” Hard coal extraction 50% 50%

oJSC “Razrez Izyskhskiy” Hard coal extraction 87% 95%

Buryatiya
oJSC “Razrez tugnuiskiy” Hard coal extraction 100% 100%

Zabaikaliye
LLC “Chitaugol” Brown coal extraction 100% 100%

LLC “Arcticheskie razrabotki” Coking coal extraction 100% 100%

Khabarovskiy kray
oJSC “Urgalugol” Hard coal extraction 84% 82%

CJSC “Daltransugol” Port facilities 100% 100%

Primorskiy kray
oJSC “Primorskugol” Brown coal extraction 85% 84%

CJSC “ShU Vostochnoe” Hard coal extraction 82% —

Switzerland
SUEK AG Export sales of coal 100% 100%

Effective share of SUEK PLC in SUEK. At 31 December 2012, the direct share of SUEK PLC in SUEK totalled 
88%, the remaining 12% being in treasury possession of SUEK and its subsidiaries, thus making SUEK PLC 
an owner of 100% of SUEK.

transactions with non-controlling interest. In April to October 2012, SUEK acquired non-controlling interests 
in SUEK-Kuzbass and SUEK-Krasnoyarsk for USD 269 million from third parties and increased its share to 
100%. The put and call option agreements for 10% of SUEK-Kuzbass and 10% of SUEK-Krasnoyarsk were 
terminated (see note 22). These transactions resulted in a decrease of non-controlling interests by  
USD 27 million and a decrease of retained earnings by USD 20 million.

Spin-off of oJSC “Primorskugol”. In November 2012, the hard coal assets of OJSC “Primorskugol” were 
spun-off to a newly created company CJSC “ShU Vostochnoe”.

31. ConSoLIDAtIon oF MMtP

In December 2012, SUEK acquired an additional 25% of MMTP for 53 million USD from the Russian 
Federation Ministry of Property Relations and increased its voting share to 49.9% and was consolidated in 
accordance with IAS 27 “Consolidated and separate financial statements” on 31 December 2012.

The provisionally determined fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of MMTP at the date of 
consolidation were as follows:

 31 December 2012

Assets 171

Property, plant and equipment 100

other assets 5

Inventories 5

trade accounts and other receivables 10

Prepaid and recoverable taxes 2

Cash and cash equivalents 49

Liabilities 56

other long-term liabilities 46

trade and other payables 8

taxes payable 2

net assets of MMtP 115

Less: non-controlling interest in the net assets of MMtP 72

Company’s share in the net assets of MMtP 43

Add: Goodwill 119

total cost of investment 162

Less: Carrying amount of an associate at the date of consolidation 109

Cash consideration 53

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of MMTP because the consideration paid for the combination effectively 
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development 
and logistics capacity. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet 
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

If the consolidation of MMTP took place on 1 January 2012 the Group’s revenue and net profit for the year 
ended 31 December 2012 would have been USD 5,689 million and USD 994 million, respectively.
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Net assets attributable to discontinued operations as of de-merge date were as follows: 

 Period ended
30 April 2011

Assets 3,755

Property, plant and equipment 2,952

other non-current assets 33

Inventories 106

trade accounts and other receivables 364

Prepaid and recoverable taxes 49

Cash and cash equivalents 250

Liabilities 928

Long-term borrowings 52

Deferred tax liabilities 339

other long-term liabilities 45

Short-term borrowings 271

trade accounts and other payables 163

taxes payable 58

net assets 2,826

net intercompany assets eliminated on consolidation (15)

net assets 2,812

the effect from disposal of power business was as follows:

Consideration received in cash 977

non-current receivable for power business 300

Payables for long-term investments 296

Deferred tax asset recognized on tax loss on de-merger of power business 3

net assets attributable to discontinued operations (2,812)

Recognition of a derivative financial liability (119)

net decrease of equity due to de-merger of power business (1,355)

The long-term receivable for the power business is payable in 4 years, is denominated in USD, bears interest 
at 5% and totalled USD 300 million at 31 December 2012.

32. DISContInUED oPERAtIonS

In April 2011, most of the power business’s assets were de-merged from the coal business of SUEK in a 
series of transactions including sale of shares of Kuzbassenergo, TGC-13 and certain other subsidiaries to 
DONALINK. As a result of the de-merger, income and expenses relating to de-merged entities have been 
presented as discontinued operations for the year ended 31 December 2011.

The results of discontinued operations for the year from 1 January 2011 till 30 April 2011 are as follows:

 Period ended
30 April 2011

Revenue 723

Cost of sales (680)

Selling, general and administrative expenses (5)

other expense, net (11)

Finance income 2

Foreign exchange gain 16

Profit before tax 45

Income tax expense (17)

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 28

Attributable to:

ordinary shareholders of the parent 25

non-controlling interest 3

other comprehensive expense

Foreign subsidiary translation difference (17)

total other comprehensive expense (17)

Cash flows of discontinued operations were as follows:

net cash flows used in operating activities (22)

net cash flows used in investing activities (80)

net cash flows from financing activities 165
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    Glossary

kg Kilogram

t Metric tonne (1,000 kilograms)

mt Million tonnes

kcal Kilocalorie

USD US Dollar

$ US Dollar

RUB Russian rouble

thous. thousand

mln Million

bln Billion

CAPEX Capital expenditures

KPI Key Performance Indicator

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

RPA Regional Production Associations

RF Russian Federation

RZD JSC Russian Railways

10.1.  
Abbreviations 
and Acronyms

ARA Amsterdam, Rotterdam, Antwerp.

API 2 Index the CIP price of coal at the ports of Amsterdam, Rotterdam and 
Antwerp with coal calorific value of 6,000 kcal/kg.

CIF

the term Incoterms CIF (Cost, Insurance, Freight) implies that the 
seller made the delivery, when the goods have passed the ship’s 
rail in the port of shipment. the Seller is obligated to pay for 
expenses and the freight necessary for the delivery of the goods 
to the indicated port of destination. the risk of losses or damages 
to the goods, and also any additional expenses arising after the 
shipment of the goods, is transferred from the seller to the buyer. 
However, the seller also has to acquire sea insurance in favour of 
the buyer against the risk of loss and damages to the goods during 
transportation.

DAF

the term Incoterms DAF (Delivered at Frontier) means that the seller 
fulfils his obligation to deliver when the goods have been made 
available, cleared for export, at the named point and place at the 
frontier, but before the customs border of the adjoining country. the 
term "frontier" may be used for any frontier including that of the 
country of export.

DAP
the term Incoterms DAP (Delivered At Place) means that the title 
and risk pass to buyer when seller delivers goods to named place 
ready for unloading. 

DES

the term Incoterms DES (Delivered Ex Ship) means that goods are 
delivered ex ship, the passing of risk does not occur until the ship has 
arrived at the named port of destination and the goods made available 
for unloading to the buyer. the seller pays the same freight and 
insurance costs as he would under a CIF arrangement. Unlike CFR and 
CIF terms, the seller has agreed to bear not just cost, but also Risk 
and title up to the arrival of the vessel at the named port. 

FCA

the term Incoterms FCA (Free Carrier) implies that the seller 
will deliver the goods that have cleared customs to the carrier 
nominated by the buyer to the designated place. In respect of SUEK, 
in sales on FCA terms, the sales are recognised at the rail station 
of departure, after the shipment of coal in cars for subsequent 
transportation to the destination point. 

FoB

the term Incoterms FoB (Free on board) implies that the seller made 
the delivery when the goods passed the ship’s rail at the designated 
shipment port. this implies that as of this moment the buyer should 
incur all the expenses and risk of loss of or damages to the goods. 
the seller is responsible for the customs clearance of the goods for 
exports.

10.2. 
terms  
and Definitions 
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EBItDA 

EBItDA (Earnings before interest, tax, amortisation and depreciation) 
is calculated as earnings before tax, financial expenses, obtained 
dividends, the share of the profits of associates, exchange 
differences, amortisation and depreciation. EBItDA is calculated 
based on all operations including the terminated operations.

FSMC of Russia

Federal Securities Market Commission – federal executive authority 
of Russia, which was responsible in 1993-2004 of the regulation 
of the securities market in Russia, conducted state policy in the 
development of the securities market, controlled the activities of 
issuers and market participants and ensured information disclosure 
on the securities market. Effective 13 March 2004 the authorities 
of the FSMC of Russia were transferred to the Federal Financial 
Markets Service (FFMS).

SUEK
SUEK, the “Company”, “SUEK enterprises”, “Company enterprises” 
designate: SUEK PLC, oJSC SUEK and companies included in 
the oJSC SUEK group; oJSC SUEK, the “Company”, “Company” 
designate: SUEK PLC and its main asset oJSC SUEK.

Contacts

SUEK PLC
3, Georgiou Katsounotou,
Kitallides Building, 2nd Floor, 
3036, Limassol, Cyprus
Tel.: +357 25 50 90 00
E-mail: post@suekplc.com

oJSC SUEK
53/7 Dubininskaya street, 
115054, Moscow, 
Russian Federation
Tel.: +7 (495) 795 25 38
Fax: + 7 (495) 795 25 42
E-mail: office@suek.ru
www.suek.ru

Corporate secretary
Elena Panasenko

Press secretary
Alexey naumenko

Head of Department  
for investor relations
Marina Zakharyuta

IFRS Auditor of SUEK PLC

CJSC KPMG
10 Presnenskaya Embankment, 
Block C, 31st floor, 
123317, Moscow, 
Russian Federation
Tel.: +7 (495) 937 44 77
Fax: + 7 (495) 927 44 99
E-mail: moscow@kpmg.ru
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